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vision
Through the provision of remarkable service we will be 

the preferred supplier of financial products and services 

to our Members.

mission
To improve the lives of the people of the ACT and 

south eastern NSW by providing access to equitable 

financial services.

values
Our values portray how we wish to be seen as an 

organisation and the qualities we take pride in as 

an organisation:

•	 we	are	respectful	and	courteous

•	 we	are	tolerant	and	supportive

•	 we	are	honest	and	open

•	 we	are	dependable	and	accountable,	and

•	 we	are	prudent	and	ethical.
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We will continue to look for these opportunities in 

our markets, positioning SERVICE ONE as a banking 

partner, not just a provider – further developing 

and maintaining our local networks into 2010/11 

and beyond.

our Board
Sound fiscal management is only possible with the 

right governance framework. We continue to ensure 

we uphold our principles and meet our regulatory 

requirements. We know that we have a strong 

responsibility to our Members, who have placed faith 

in SERVICE ONE, and protecting the funds of our 

Members remains our priority.

Our corporate governance program continues to 

provide the framework for auditing, management 

of performance, and decision making. Dedicated 

sub-committees, comprising members of the Board 

ensure SERVICE ONE is operating efficiently, effectively, 

and legally as we work towards our goals. More 

information on these committees and their roles can be 

found as part of the ‘Corporate Governance Statement’ 

on page 20. 

Members of the Board continue to develop their skills 

and competencies to ensure they are in a position to 

responsibly guide SERVICE ONE. Our Directors, once 

again, participated in industry forums and remain 

committed to their own personal growth and to 

providing strong leadership to our organisation.

The election of Directors as part of the 2009 Annual 

General Meeting (AGM) looked to fill two vacancies 

that opened on the Board. Two experienced Directors 

were re-appointed to the Board – Jennifer Corbett 

and Deborah Robinson and they continue to make a 

valuable contribution to the Board’s work.

Winston Phillips, one of our longest serving Directors, 

has indicated that he will be standing down at this 

year’s AGM and will not be seeking re-election. 

Winston has made a significant contribution, having 

been both a Director and Chair of Snowy Mountains 

Credit Union and an active member of SERVICE ONE’s 

Corporate Governance Committee. 

I would sincerely like to thank Winston for his 

commitment, loyalty and for the considerable effort he 

has put into SERVICE ONE over the past 14 years.

looking forward
Many commentators are hopeful that the economic 

environment continues to improve and we’re 

certainly eager to see operating conditions stabilise 

in the 2010/11 financial year. We are confident that 

SERVICE ONE is well positioned to leverage the work 

undertaken in 2009/10 to provide a strong banking 

alternative for the people within our communities. 

While much effort continues to be put in behind the 

scenes to ensure our long-term sustainability, our front-

line staff will continue to do what we do best – provide 

a trusted banking service to our valued Members.

Thank you
Remaining a relevant and competitive banking 

provider is really a combination of Member choice and 

loyalty, staff commitment and Board responsibility. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all 

involved. The financial services industry continues to be 

challenged by the broader economic circumstances and 

while we don’t have the resources some of our larger 

counterparts enjoy, SERVICE ONE continues to grow in 

the right direction. 

Finally, thank you for your support of SERVICE ONE 

and we look forward to even stronger growth for the 

organisation in 2010/11.

John Clarke

Chair

The 2009/10 financial year remained challenging for 

banking institutions as global economies attempted to 

recover from the global financial crisis. The after effects 

of the downturn continue to impact the operating 

environment, with a contraction in credit markets 

and the ongoing margin squeeze, from the mismatch 

between interest generated on loans and interest paid 

out on deposits, putting pressure on organisational 

performance. With these challenges, SERVICE ONE 

Members Banking (SERVICE ONE) continues to place 

the emphasis on sound fiscal management to ensure 

we are in a position to provide our unique banking 

experience to Members for many years to come.

Financial performance
SERVICE ONE’s financial performance in 2009/10 

sees us heading in the right direction despite these 

difficult times. SERVICE ONE’s total assets increased 

from $280,596,000 to $286,822,000 – representing a 

2.2 per cent increase. A significant result for the year 

was the growth in our lending portfolio. Our loan 

balances increased from $214,008,000 to $237,382,000 

– representing 10.9 per cent growth. We also saw 

over three per cent growth in our deposits, from 

$253,643,000 to $262,330,000. Profit after tax was 

$334,000 (up from a net loss of $1.42 million the 

previous year (although the 2008/09 figure included 

items which may be considered unusual in that year)).

Our Capital Adequacy Ratio, which is a measure of our 

capital strength, remained well above the Australian 

Prudential Regulation Authority’s (APRA’s) regulatory 

requirements finishing the year at 13.02 per cent. Our 

liquidity levels continue to ensure we can meet our 

financial obligations through the successful monitoring 

and projection of cash flows.

The year saw total impairment losses on loans and 

advances increase to $462,000 (up from $76,000 

in 2008/09). Although this is an increase from last 

year our performance in this area is still better than 

industry levels. 

This year’s results see SERVICE ONE perform positively. 

While the profit result is not as strong as we would 

have liked, we have worked hard to achieve a healthy 

balance between providing a good value banking 

alternative for our Members but also generating the 

profit the organisation needs to be sustainable in the 

long-term.  

The operating environment
Across the finance sector, the competition for deposits 

continues to drive lower margins. SERVICE ONE has not 

been immune to this given we fund the majority of our 

lending activity via Member deposits. Our investment 

in an extensive Branch network, coupled with the 

labour costs this entails, adds to our cost base. While 

continuing to provide the high levels of service our 

Members expect, SERVICE ONE continues to look to be 

more cost efficient and to diversify our income streams. 

In addition to the business alliances with ActewAGL 

and TransACT that enable us to operate the Gungahlin 

store at lower costs than a solely SERVICE ONE-

managed Branch, this year SERVICE ONE entered into 

an arrangement with the University of Canberra.

This arrangement saw SERVICE ONE take over 

the cashiering services and administration of the 

University’s Student Financial Assistance Scheme. 

Not only do these arrangements allow us to diversify 

income but they also allow SERVICE ONE to deal with a 

much larger cross-section of the staff and student base 

– in turn, allowing us a greater opportunity to grow 

business in the important universities market.
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member satisfaction
Our Member Satisfaction Survey was conducted in early 

2010. Once again, the survey revealed high levels of 

satisfaction with our primary banking channels. Ninety 

per cent of respondents were satisfied with our Branch 

service and satisfaction with our electronic channels of 

website and eLink increased (88 per cent and 82 per 

cent respectively).

The survey also reiterated the importance of providing 

a good value banking alternative for our Members. 

Maintaining lower fees than a bank and helping 

Members avoid ATM fees were identified as the top 

two areas of importance. In terms of how we are 

performing in these areas of importance, we saw a 

significant increase in our ‘Members before profit’ 

measure, which is a pleasing result.

In this survey, we introduced some new measures 

– including one to ascertain advocacy levels. Close 

to three quarters of respondents have already 

recommended us to family or friends or are very likely 

to. In addition, a further 25 per cent would recommend 

SERVICE ONE if it comes up in conversation. This is a 

very strong result and we thank our Members for this 

support. We will continue to identify what it is about 

SERVICE ONE that Members value and continue to 

improve the experience for our Members.

additional market 
intelligence
During the 2009/10 period, we embarked upon one of 

the first major market research pieces SERVICE ONE has 

ever undertaken. A significant sample of non-members 

and Members in our region were asked about their 

perceptions of SERVICE ONE’s brand, their attitudes 

towards credit unions in general and what they want 

from their banking provider. 

The research revealed there is a lot of interest in 

credit unions as a banking alternative and also the 

concept of becoming a Member to access banking 

products and services. The challenge for SERVICE 

ONE remains in lifting our profile as our unprompted 

awareness levels were low in our key markets.  

This research provided other insights and we will use 

this information to further develop our brand and 

position SERVICE ONE as a unique banking provider in 

Canberra and surrounding NSW.

Banking system conversion 
– the next stage
While SERVICE ONE converted to a new banking system 

at the end of 2008, work continues to ensure we get 

the most out of our new system, and importantly, our 

Members benefit from the upgrade. The changes that 

probably impacted Members the most would have 

been the enhancements to our eLink Internet banking 

facility. Progressively in 2009/10, new features were 

added to eLink, including BPAY View, eStatements, 

Alerts and SMS Banking. In addition, much work went 

in to adopt new security measures for eLink, allowing 

us to remove Captcha upon login – an element we 

know has caused grief for our Members.  

While the past financial year wasn’t as volatile 

as 2008/09, organisations in the financial services 

sector continued to feel the impact of the economic 

downturn. It’s fair to say that SERVICE ONE’s financial 

results were not as substantial as we would have liked, 

but we did continue some very significant work in 

2009/10 that will contribute to stronger results in the 

future and, importantly, the long-term sustainability of 

our organisation. 

One of the strongest results for 2009/10 was the growth 

in SERVICE ONE’s lending portfolio. This was primarily 

due to the competitive product offering, Member 

support and increased focus on lending in the early 

part of the financial year. SERVICE ONE staff worked 

hard to ensure Members were aware of the benefits of 

the lending products we offer, and Members responded 

well. To achieve almost 11 per cent growth in this area 

over the reporting period was particularly pleasing.

spreading the word
We know the banking experience we provide is 

unique. While mutual banking has been around for 

years, many Australians have still not experienced 

the difference. In my dealings with people within our 

communities, I often find myself explaining the basics 

of mutual banking, and how we differ to the larger 

banking institutions. 

To address this, the industry had been discussing the 

possibility of a national advertising effort, to help raise 

the awareness of credit unions and mutual building 

societies. We know individually, we can’t compete 

with the likes of the big four banks when it comes 

to advertising dollars, but collectively by pooling our 

resources, we were able to come up with a strong 

national campaign – it all comes back to our members. 

Launched in May/June, this campaign saw television 

commercials aired across the country and a campaign 

website (comesbacktoyou.com.au) go live. SERVICE ONE 

also leveraged the campaign via activities promoting 

our localism and the work we do within the ACT and 

our regional communities. The campaign focused on 

the concept of membership and that the profits we 

generate are returned into our business to ensure more 

competitive banking products and services for our 

Members. 

With the large banks continuing to announce 

exorbitant profit levels (even after all the talk of the 

increased costs and pressures they are facing), these 

messages around not having to generate profits for an 

external group of shareholders have really hit home 

with many. 

Stages two and three of the national campaign will be 

implemented throughout the 2010/11 financial year. 

rediaTm expansion
Towards the end of 2009, our rediATM network more 

than doubled in size with National Australia Bank 

joining the rediATM scheme. This means our Members 

now have access to the second largest ATM network in 

Australia – with more than 3,100 rediATMs across the 

country, enabling Member transactions without having 

to pay a direct charge.

We continue to see a strong expansion of the rediATM 

network, with BOQ announcing in September 2010 

that they will be joining the network, boosting the 

network to over 3,500 ATMs across Australia.

“Close to three 
quarters of

respondents 
have already

recommended 
us to family or
friends or are 

very likely to.”
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The banking system conversion continues to not 

only provide us with opportunities to streamline our 

business and run more efficiently, but also revamp our 

products and services and look to new offerings. This is 

an ongoing focus and Members will hopefully continue 

to realise benefits as we aim to make dealing with us 

simpler, by making enhancements to existing, as well as 

new, products and services. 

The year ahead
SERVICE ONE continues to enjoy strong loyalty from 

our Members – something I am particularly grateful for. 

This loyalty provides a strong and stable foundation for 

the organisation, and all of us working at SERVICE ONE 

recognise and value this ongoing support. 

As we move into, what we hope is, a period of 

improved economic stability, SERVICE ONE will 

be focusing on our strategic objectives. We are 

concentrating on four key areas to help us reach 

our goals – our Members, our staff, our financial 

performance and our systems. We continue to put in 

a lot of work to ensure our Members are rewarded 

for banking with us, that our staff can provide a 

remarkable service experience for every Member, every 

time, that we achieve the financial targets we need to 

remain a financially sound organisation, and that we 

streamline our systems to work more efficiently and 

make it easier to do business with us. It sounds pretty 

simple, but if we can achieve the results we want in 

these areas, we will increase our market share in our 

region and continue to enhance Member satisfaction.

Despite some challenging times over recent years, 

SERVICE ONE is heading in the right direction. I look 

forward to the 2010/11 year and continuing to put our 

Members first and foremost in all we do.

Peter Carlin 

Chief Executive

“We’ve become known for our 
support of local communities 

and we make a concerted 
effort in this area – both from a 

corporate sense and also through 
the work our staff continue to 

be involved in.”
Anna Storti, General Manager – Retail
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Brumbies Presentation Dinner, Snowy River 
Festival, esCarpade 70s dinner.
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SERVICE ONE’s support of local communities continued 

throughout 2009/10, with SERVICE ONE contributing 

to over 50 community partners. With a wide range 

of activities, we supported local sporting and social 

groups, school programs, regional agricultural and 

community events and charitable organisations.

esCarpade driving up 
support
SERVICE ONE once again proudly supported Camp 

Quality’s esCarpade. This weeklong ‘party with a 

purpose’ sees communities get behind enthusiastically 

themed vehicles – all in the name of raising much 

needed funds to help children and their families 

living with cancer.

A farewell dinner, incorporating a 70s theme was 

held to wish the Canberra team all the best and send 

them on their way. The route included a Nowra start, 

then proceeded through several towns including 

Cowra, Mudgee, Coonamble, Lightning Ridge, 

Nyngan and Gilgandra.

The 2009 Canberra team, including SERVICE ONE 

Director, Ivan Slavich, raised over $210,000 – the most 

in a single year since esCarpade started back in 2007. 

Ongoing fundraising is important to help send children 

to camp and offer financial assistance to those families 

finding it hard to balance cancer treatment and 

general living costs.

Celebrating 50 years of 
community banking
At the start of the financial year, we celebrated 50 

years of community banking in the regional NSW 

town of Bemboka. The Bemboka Memorial Hall was 

the venue for the event, and a visual presentation of 

images collected from over the past 50 years captured 

key milestones in the credit union’s history, including 

the setting up of a permanent office in the main street 

in 1988 (the credit union previously operated out of 

the homes of residents) and SERVICE ONE acquiring the 

operation of the credit union in 2004.

Prominent community figure Jack Hobbs and 

one of the first Directors of the credit union (and 

Member to this day), Pat Bateman, offered their 

insight at the event. The event was well supported 

with many locals attending and acknowledging this 

significant achievement.

snowy River Festival
SERVICE ONE continued its support of one of the 

largest community events in regional NSW – the Snowy 

River Festival. Held on the banks of the Snowy River, 

Dalgety, this event pays homage (and gives insight to 

those attendees who are not from the area) to the 

various disciplines required to survive life in the country. 

SERVICE ONE support is used to run the Stockman’s 

Challenge – through which participants are required 

to display the horse handling skills developed in 

Australia’s harsh outback and rugged mountain ranges.

snowy Hydro southCare
SERVICE ONE continued its support of the provider of 

aero-medical and rescue helicopter services for the ACT 

and South Eastern NSW – Snowy Hydro SouthCare. 

Support from major sponsors and fundraising efforts 

are required to keep this vital service in the air and we 

were proud to play our part.

Several fundraising activities were held through 

2009/10, including the popular Base Open Day in 

February, a radiothon to raise money to purchase and 

install a second ventilator in the helicopter, as well as a 

gala ball. SERVICE ONE and its Members assisted with 

these activities to ensure the service adds to its already 

impressive completed missions figure of over 3,500.
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Tertiary open Day
Tertiary Open Day plays an important role in our 

ongoing community efforts in the tertiary education 

sector. This is a day when Canberra’s five tertiary 

institutions – the University of Canberra, Australian 

Catholic University, Australian Defence Force Academy, 

CIT and Australian National University, showcase 

what they have on offer for school leavers, mature 

age students and graduates. Thousands of students 

and their families used this as an opportunity to 

visit the campuses, collecting the course and campus 

information they need to make an informed decision 

regarding their tertiary studies.

SERVICE ONE staff featured at several of the campuses, 

discussing the issues of banking and broader financial 

literacy topics such as budgeting and saving. Our 

Student Finance Guide proved a popular resource 

on the day. 

Brumbies wrap
After narrowly missing the finals in 2009, a lot was 

expected of the Brumbies in 2010, particularly with 

the off-season recruitment of Rocky Elsom and Josh 

Valentine, and the return of local favourite Matt 

Giteau. The significance of the season grew with the 

news that club legend George Smith would retire 

from Test rugby at the end of the season and Stirling 

Mortlock was leaving to join the incoming Melbourne 

Rebels.

The Brumbies’ last minute victory over the Chiefs 

not only signalled a win over last year’s finalists, but 

completed the celebrations on a night the team 

recorded their 5000th point in Super Rugby and Matt 

Giteau surpassed 500 career points.

The Brumbies needed a win against the Crusaders 

in Christchurch to book a place in the play-offs. 

Unfortunately it wasn’t to be, with a clinical Crusaders 

outfit taking the match 40-22.

SERVICE ONE continued its support of the team 

through several activities and initiatives. This included 

a pre-season charity ride from Canberra to Mount 

Kosciuszko in November, our popular Brumbies 

ultimate fan experience competition, increased 

participation in pre-match activities at Canberra 

Stadium, and financial support for the Kicks for Ca$h 

program, with the funds being given to the official 

2010 number one season ticket holder, OzHarvest 

Canberra.

At the season-ending presentation dinner, George 

Smith was awarded his ninth Brett Robinson 

Players’ Player Award – a fitting end to his time with 

the Brumbies.

For the children
Our younger Members continued to demonstrate 

their creativity through the colouring-in competitions, 

promoted through our Member magazines. Hundreds 

of entries were received following the distribution of 

the January and July Member magazines. Six $100 Day 

to Day Savings Accounts were awarded throughout 

the year.

staff support
SERVICE ONE staff continued their personal 

contribution to our local communities by donating 

through our Jeans Day efforts. Each month, SERVICE 

ONE staff select a charity which they support, with 

donations gathered across the organisation being 

donated to the selected cause. During the 2009/10 

financial year, we contributed much needed funds 

to the Mental Health Foundation, Jeans for Genes, 

Pegasus ACT, Prostate Cancer Australia, National Breast 

Cancer Foundation, Barnardos, Red Cross, OzHarvest, 

Ronald McDonald Foundation, Smith Family, Biggest 

Morning Tea and Muscular Dystrophy.
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At SERVICE ONE, we recognise that the fundamental 

component in being able to provide remarkable 

service is our staff. Our staff programs are focused on 

improving staff engagement, building the capabilities 

and skills of our team and, importantly, supporting 

our staff to provide the highest level of service to our 

Members at all times.

SERVICE ONE has a strong commitment to providing 

training and development opportunities to staff 

and over recent years we have invested more per 

full-time equivalent staff than the benchmark for 

similar sized organisations within our industry. This 

year we invested heavily in sourcing, delivering and 

fully funding a dedicated leadership program. This 

program, for SERVICE ONE’s staff new to management, 

was supported by the organisation over a seven 

month period and resulted in 11 of our staff attaining 

the broadly recognised Certificate IV in Frontline 

Management qualification.

We also provided a range of other courses for staff 

with a focus on supporting external training programs 

that provide recognised qualifications. In the reporting 

period, over 50 per cent of staff completed accredited 

training programs. Reflecting this support, 78 per 

cent of respondents in our 2009 Staff Survey strongly 

agreed/agreed that their Manager encourages them to 

undertake development and training.

SERVICE ONE has a strong belief in offering staff 

the opportunity to gain promotion. This year 

we introduced some new tools to assist with 

communicating opportunities to staff and we 

remain committed to advertising internally all roles 

that become available. In the year, this resulted in 

approximately 25 per cent of our staff receiving 

promotions to higher roles. We also continued to offer 

internal secondment opportunities, providing short-

term opportunities for staff to build their experience 

within different areas of the business.

Throughout this financial year, SERVICE ONE worked 

collaboratively with staff to review working conditions 

as part of the negotiation of a new Staff Enterprise 

Agreement (the Agreement). Management worked 

closely with the Staff Representatives Committee and 

the authorised Bargaining Representatives, including 

the Financial Services Union, to identify areas that 

required improvement and addressed these issues 

to improve the work organisation and conditions of 

employment. The Agreement was genuinely agreed by 

staff in late June 2010 and was subsequently approved 

by Fair Work Australia.

We care about our team’s health and wellbeing, and 

support a series of staff welfare programs. This year 

saw us provide a new information session to Managers 

and staff in relation to job stress and workplace mental 

health to help us understand and reduce job stress 

along with implementing workplace interventions 

to improve our workplace. Our ongoing programs 

see us offering comprehensive staff assistance which 

is available to all staff and their families, providing 

annual flu immunisations to the SERVICE ONE team 

and a range of other initiatives.

We know that providing the highest level of 

Member service can only happen with strong 

support and recognition. Our ongoing Rewards and 

Recognition program recognises work that fits with 

our corporate vision, values and strategies. Members 

and staff nominate staff for one of three awards 

each month. We also look for ways to support our 

team through impromptu rewards and recognition 

throughout the year.

To improve our staff engagement, we delivered and 

discussed the results of the Staff Survey with staff at 

all locations. With the view of gathering feedback 

on developing our workplace, we encourage staff 

participation in initiatives such as the quarterly CEO 

forum where staff and the CEO meet informally to 

discuss any issues impacting them. Our weekly staff 

newsletter, First in, also keeps staff up-to-date with 

any industry developments, campaigns, new staff 

introductions or procedural updates. 

At SERVICE ONE, we’re committed to providing our 

staff an environment in which they can learn, feel 

appreciated, and develop both professionally and 

personally. There’s no doubt the unique banking 

experience our Members enjoy is largely due to the 

efforts of our staff. As a result, it’s only natural SERVICE 

ONE continues to invest in this area to ensure Members 

are able to deal with friendly and knowledgeable staff 

who they trust.

“SERVICE ONE  
does not feel like 

 a bank. It feels like a 
 financial institution which 

 is sympathetic to the needs of its  
members and has this as a priority. I feel that 
I can approach the staff about any problem 

and be heard and dealt with fairly... ”
Member
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and Economics Correspondent for The Age). National 

Publishers develops and publishes newsletters and other 

publications for industry associations, government 

agencies, superannuation funds and companies. Ian is 

Chair of SERVICE ONE’s Finance and Risk Committee, 

a member of Canberra Business Council’s Consultative 

Committee and a former member of the Council 

of the University of Canberra, former Chair of their 

Finance Committee and a former member of the 

ACT Department of Education’s Accreditation and 

Registration Council.

Heather nash

Heather is an experienced company Director, having 

been on the Boards of UniSuper and currently of the 

Uniting Church (NSW and ACT) Trust Association and 

SERVICE ONE since 2008. She has lived in Canberra 

continuously since 1985 and in the 1970s when studying 

at the ANU. She has a strong commitment to Canberra 

and the surrounding regions and has been involved on 

a voluntary basis with several community organisations. 

Heather worked in the ANU administration for 18 years 

before moving to the Australian Library and Information 

Association for three years as Industrial Relations and 

Human Resources Advisor. Heather now concentrates 

on non-executive directorships. In addition to her legal 

training, she has completed the exams for the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors and is a Fellow of the 

Institute. Outside of business hours, Heather is an avid 

reader and traveller.

Winston Phillips

Winston lives on a farm near Cooma and works for the 

Department of Defence in Cooma. He was a Director of 

Snowy Mountains Credit Union from 1996 and Chairman 

for two years. He has been a Director of Service One 

Credit Union since it was formed in 2001. Chairman of 

the Sir William Hudson Memorial Centre Nursing Home 

since 1999 and a Director since 1996, Winston has also 

been a Councillor on the Cooma-Monaro Shire Council 

since 1991 and served two years as Deputy Mayor. A 

volunteer member of Bush Fire Brigades for 41 years, 

Winston is Chairman of the Cooma-Monaro District 

Rural Fire Services Committee. He was a Director on the 

Cooma Rural Lands Protection Board from 2006 to 2008 

and was elected to the South East Livestock Health and 

Pest Authority in June 2009 and is the Deputy Chairman 

of that Board. Winston has been a Director of the 

Cooma Ex-Services Club since September 2009 and a 

Justice of the Peace since 1991.

Deborah Robinson

A Canberra resident since 1974, Deborah has over 

20 years experience in the workforce, firstly in an 

audit role with a firm of Chartered Accountants and 

then as a manager/tax adviser with the government 

sector. Deborah has been a credit union Member 

for over 30 years and an active Board member for 

15 years. Academically she has a Master of Business 

Administration and a Bachelor of Commerce. Her 

professional training has included completing the 

Company Directors Course Diploma and the AICD 

Mastering the Boardroom Advanced Program. Deborah 

has strong financial and corporate governance skills, 

and a thorough understanding of the financial services 

industry. 

ivan slavich

Ivan was appointed to the SERVICE ONE Board in 

February 2009, and is currently the CEO of the ACT’s 

own telecommunications provider, TransACT – a multi 

media technology company providing telephony, 

broadband, subscription television and mobile phone 

services to over 150,000 product customers in the 

ACT, NSW and regional Victoria. Ivan has a Bachelor 

of Business degree from UTS, Graduate Diploma in 

Applied Finance and Investment from the Australian 

Securities Institute of Australia and Graduate Certificate 

in Business Administration from the Mt Eliza Business 

School, along with being a Graduate and Fellow of the 

Australian Institute of Company Directors. Ivan also 

maintains strong links with the community, through his 

work on several Boards – including the ACT Chamber of 

Commerce, Camp Quality esCarpade, TransACT Rocks 

Movember, as Chairman of ACT EV Council and as an 

ACT Business Leaders Innovative Thoughts and Solutions 

Champion – a program run by the ACT Government to 

promote initiatives that value and engage those with 

disabilities.

John Clarke (Chair)
John has been a Director of Service One Credit Union 

since 2001 and prior to that was a Director of Snowy 

Mountains Credit Union from 1996. Since 1975, he has 

been a barrister and solicitor for the Supreme Courts of 

NSW, ACT and the High Court of Australia, practicing 

in Cooma and Canberra. He is currently a Director of 

the Cooma Rotary Club and has been involved with 

many other community organisations including Apex, 

Landcare, women’s refuge, nursing homes, preschools, 

daycare centres and has been a pro bono adviser to 

various community organisations for many years.

erik adriaanse

Erik is a qualified fellow CPA, a past CPA Divisional 

Councillor in the ACT, and past President of CPA 

Australia in Canberra. Following a 30 year career as an 

Accountant and Financial Planner in private practice he 

became General Manager of the Independent Property 

Group, Director of Independent Body Corporate 

Services and is now Chairman of the IPG Management 

Committee. He is presently a Director of Snowy Hydro 

SouthCare Helicopter Trust, Director and ACT delegate 

to the National Community Titles Institute Inc and 

Director of Strata Managers Institute (ACT) Incorporated 

and immediate past president. He was also a Board 

member of Legacy Club of Canberra ACT, the Cultural 

Facilities Corporation, Australian Council of Professions, 

CIT Audit and Compliance Committee and the ANU 

Centre for Dialogue Steering Committee. He has 

completed 21 Sydney to Hobart yacht races, winning 

three times, and has represented Australia in sailing. Erik 

has also a passionate interest in music having played in 

numerous musical groups over the years in Canberra.  

Jennifer Corbett

Jenny was appointed as a non-executive Director of 

Service One Credit Union in August 2005 and elected 

as Director in 2006. Jenny grew up in Canberra and 

was an undergraduate student at ANU. She is currently 

a Professor of Economics at the Crawford School of 

Economics and Government, and Executive Director of 

the Australia-Japan Research Centre at the ANU. Jenny 

is also a Fellow of St Antony’s College, Oxford and was, 

for several years, Chair of its Finance Committee. Jenny’s 

research interests include corporate governance in, and 

regulation of, financial institutions. 

ian Davis

Ian has lived in Canberra for more than 20 years. He 

is Chief Executive of National Publishers (previously 

National Capital Newsletters), which he established 

after a career in journalism (Finance Editor and 

News Editor of The Canberra Times, Government 

Business Editor of The Australian Financial Review 

(from left to right) Jennifer Corbett, Erik Adriaanse, Deborah Robinson, Ivan Slavich, John Clarke, Winston Phillips, Heather Nash and Ian Davis.



Directors

18 19SERVICE ONE ANNUAL REPORT 09/10SERVICE ONE ANNUAL REPORT 09/10

and Economics Correspondent for The Age). National 

Publishers develops and publishes newsletters and other 

publications for industry associations, government 

agencies, superannuation funds and companies. Ian is 

Chair of SERVICE ONE’s Finance and Risk Committee, 
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ACT Department of Education’s Accreditation and 

Registration Council.
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been a Councillor on the Cooma-Monaro Shire Council 

since 1991 and served two years as Deputy Mayor. A 

volunteer member of Bush Fire Brigades for 41 years, 

Winston is Chairman of the Cooma-Monaro District 
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promote initiatives that value and engage those with 

disabilities.

John Clarke (Chair)
John has been a Director of Service One Credit Union 

since 2001 and prior to that was a Director of Snowy 

Mountains Credit Union from 1996. Since 1975, he has 

been a barrister and solicitor for the Supreme Courts of 

NSW, ACT and the High Court of Australia, practicing 
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daycare centres and has been a pro bono adviser to 
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Australia in Canberra. Following a 30 year career as an 

Accountant and Financial Planner in private practice he 

became General Manager of the Independent Property 

Group, Director of Independent Body Corporate 

Services and is now Chairman of the IPG Management 

Committee. He is presently a Director of Snowy Hydro 

SouthCare Helicopter Trust, Director and ACT delegate 

to the National Community Titles Institute Inc and 

Director of Strata Managers Institute (ACT) Incorporated 

and immediate past president. He was also a Board 

member of Legacy Club of Canberra ACT, the Cultural 

Facilities Corporation, Australian Council of Professions, 

CIT Audit and Compliance Committee and the ANU 

Centre for Dialogue Steering Committee. He has 

completed 21 Sydney to Hobart yacht races, winning 

three times, and has represented Australia in sailing. Erik 

has also a passionate interest in music having played in 

numerous musical groups over the years in Canberra.  

Jennifer Corbett

Jenny was appointed as a non-executive Director of 

Service One Credit Union in August 2005 and elected 

as Director in 2006. Jenny grew up in Canberra and 

was an undergraduate student at ANU. She is currently 

a Professor of Economics at the Crawford School of 

Economics and Government, and Executive Director of 

the Australia-Japan Research Centre at the ANU. Jenny 

is also a Fellow of St Antony’s College, Oxford and was, 

for several years, Chair of its Finance Committee. Jenny’s 
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regulation of, financial institutions. 
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Business Editor of The Australian Financial Review 

(from left to right) Jennifer Corbett, Erik Adriaanse, Deborah Robinson, Ivan Slavich, John Clarke, Winston Phillips, Heather Nash and Ian Davis.



Corporate Governance statement

20 21SERVICE ONE ANNUAL REPORT 09/10SERVICE ONE ANNUAL REPORT 09/10

The Constitution provides that other than a Director 

who is a current Chair of the Board, a Director who has 

served 12 consecutive years as a Director will retire from 

the Board at the first AGM immediately following their 

12 year anniversary, subject only to a prior unanimous 

decision by the Board to extend (or support the 

extension of) that Director’s tenure. Such a unanimous 

resolution by the Board is to be made in the absence of 

the Director concerned.

In the case of a serving Chair the period above is 

15 years.

Board processes
The Board generally meets monthly and more regularly 

if required.

The agenda for Board meetings is prepared by the Chair 

of the Board in conjunction with the Chief Executive.

The Board is of the view that the Board shall only 

comprise non-executive Directors. The Board has 

adopted the principle that it should comprise a majority 

of independent Directors and that its Chair should be 

an independent Director.

Board and Director 
performance evaluation
The Board has a formal process for evaluating 

the performance and skills of the Board. A fuller 

description of this process can be found in the Board 

Governance Policy on SERVICE ONE’s website. A formal 

evaluation of the performance and skills mix of the 

Board, its Committees, the Directors and the Chief 

Executive was carried out in accordance with the 

Board’s Policy requirements. 

Remuneration for Directors or the Chief Executive does 

not contain any component related to profit sharing or 

the issue of stock or options.

Director independence
In adopting the Principles, the Board comprises a 

majority of independent Directors. An independent 

Director being considered independent of 

management and free of any business or other 

relationship that could materially interfere with, 

or could reasonably be perceived to materially 

interfere with, the exercise of their unfettered and 

independent judgement. 

However, the Constitution of SERVICE ONE stipulates 

that a Director has to be a Member of SERVICE 

ONE and in most cases that means a Director will 

have deposits and, possibly, loans with SERVICE 

ONE, which might compromise that independence. 

Details of loans to Directors and other Director 

related transactions are included in the annual 

Financial Report beginning on page 30.

The Board is of the view that it would ordinarily 

expect a relationship to be considered material when 

it accounts for more than five per cent of the total 

services provided by the Member or supplier or more 

than 20 per cent of the total supplies of SERVICE 

ONE or services of the same, or a similar, nature. 

Taking into account the above qualifications, the 

Board has determined that each of the Directors is an 

independent Director. In so determining, the Board had 

regard to the information contained in the profile of 

each Director and the tests set out in the Principles.

Director access to 
professional advice
To assist in the effective discharge of their duties, 

Directors may, in consultation with the Chair, seek 

independent legal advice on their duties and 

responsibilities at the expense of SERVICE ONE and, in 

due course, make all Board members aware of both 

instructions to advisors and the advice obtained.

Director access to employees
Members of the Executive regularly attend Board 

meetings and Directors have unfettered direct access to 

the Executives of SERVICE ONE.

On 31 March 2003 the Australian Stock Exchange 

(ASX) Corporate Governance Council released its 

Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best 

Practice Recommendations (the Principles). The second 

edition of these Principles was released in August 2007. 

SERVICE ONE, because it is an unlisted public company, 

is not obliged to report on whether or not it follows 

the Principles. However, the Board has chosen to do 

so in relation to those matters which are material to 

non-listed public companies in acknowledgement of its 

responsibility for and commitment to best practice in 

corporate governance.

Although the primary driver of this document is the 

ASX Rules, it is also influenced by the release by APRA 

of its APS 510 – Governance Prudential Standard, 

stipulating the minimum governance requirements of 

Authorised Deposit-taking Institutions.

The Board recognises that achieving best practice 

is an ongoing process and will reflect changes in 

community thinking. 

SERVICE ONE has developed a corporate governance 

section on our website. The various codes, policies and 

terms of reference referred to in this statement are 

published on our website.

Board of Directors
The Board has adopted the following key 

responsibilities:

•	 act in the best interest of SERVICE ONE as a whole

•	 observe their duties as Directors in terms of 

corporations law, general law, SERVICE ONE’s 

Constitution and other relevant legislation 

•	 comply with APRA Prudential Standards, and 

•	 enhance Member value.

In order to meet these responsibilities, the key 

functions of the Board include:

•	 establishing, making appointments and making 

delegations to Board committees 

•	 appointing, delegating to, supporting, evaluating 

and rewarding the Chief Executive and having in 

place a succession plan 

•	 seeking to achieve a diverse and effective Board, 

with appropriate skills, operating standards and 

procedures for the Board and its committees 

•	 determining, monitoring and reviewing the 

strategic direction and objectives

•	 approving, monitoring and reviewing the strategic 

plan including financial and non-financial 

performance measures 

•	 ensuring that the principal business risks have 

been identified and the implementation and 

monitoring by management of a framework to 

manage those risks 

•	 reviewing, approving and monitoring policy, within 

a policy and compliance framework 

•	 ensuring a process is in place for the maintenance 

of the integrity of internal controls, and financial 

and management information systems 

•	 ensuring processes are in place so that SERVICE ONE 

acts legally and responsibly on all matters

•	 ensuring that appropriate ethical standards are 

maintained 

•	 reviewing, determining and monitoring the skills 

and performance of: 

 − the Board as a whole

 − Directors as individuals

 − Board sub-committees, and

•	 reporting to the Members on the Board’s 

stewardship as required.

Composition of the Board
The Constitution of SERVICE ONE (the Constitution) 

stipulates that the Board consists of a minimum of five 

and no more than 10 Directors. At all times the Board 

must have no less than five elected Directors. The 

Constitution also allows the Board to appoint a Director 

for a 12-month term.

Directors’ profiles appear on page 18 and 19. 

Subject to the following paragraphs, elected Directors 

serve a three year term and retire in rotation but may 

stand for re-election. Any Director appointed to fill 

a casual vacancy during the financial year must also 

have that appointment confirmed by a resolution of 

Members at that year’s AGM.
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The Constitution provides that other than a Director 

who is a current Chair of the Board, a Director who has 

served 12 consecutive years as a Director will retire from 

the Board at the first AGM immediately following their 

12 year anniversary, subject only to a prior unanimous 

decision by the Board to extend (or support the 

extension of) that Director’s tenure. Such a unanimous 

resolution by the Board is to be made in the absence of 

the Director concerned.

In the case of a serving Chair the period above is 

15 years.

Board processes
The Board generally meets monthly and more regularly 

if required.

The agenda for Board meetings is prepared by the Chair 

of the Board in conjunction with the Chief Executive.

The Board is of the view that the Board shall only 

comprise non-executive Directors. The Board has 

adopted the principle that it should comprise a majority 

of independent Directors and that its Chair should be 

an independent Director.

Board and Director 
performance evaluation
The Board has a formal process for evaluating 

the performance and skills of the Board. A fuller 

description of this process can be found in the Board 

Governance Policy on SERVICE ONE’s website. A formal 

evaluation of the performance and skills mix of the 

Board, its Committees, the Directors and the Chief 

Executive was carried out in accordance with the 

Board’s Policy requirements. 

Remuneration for Directors or the Chief Executive does 

not contain any component related to profit sharing or 

the issue of stock or options.

Director independence
In adopting the Principles, the Board comprises a 

majority of independent Directors. An independent 

Director being considered independent of 

management and free of any business or other 

relationship that could materially interfere with, 

or could reasonably be perceived to materially 

interfere with, the exercise of their unfettered and 

independent judgement. 

However, the Constitution of SERVICE ONE stipulates 

that a Director has to be a Member of SERVICE 

ONE and in most cases that means a Director will 

have deposits and, possibly, loans with SERVICE 

ONE, which might compromise that independence. 

Details of loans to Directors and other Director 

related transactions are included in the annual 

Financial Report beginning on page 30.

The Board is of the view that it would ordinarily 

expect a relationship to be considered material when 

it accounts for more than five per cent of the total 

services provided by the Member or supplier or more 

than 20 per cent of the total supplies of SERVICE 

ONE or services of the same, or a similar, nature. 

Taking into account the above qualifications, the 

Board has determined that each of the Directors is an 

independent Director. In so determining, the Board had 

regard to the information contained in the profile of 

each Director and the tests set out in the Principles.

Director access to 
professional advice
To assist in the effective discharge of their duties, 

Directors may, in consultation with the Chair, seek 

independent legal advice on their duties and 

responsibilities at the expense of SERVICE ONE and, in 

due course, make all Board members aware of both 

instructions to advisors and the advice obtained.

Director access to employees
Members of the Executive regularly attend Board 

meetings and Directors have unfettered direct access to 

the Executives of SERVICE ONE.

On 31 March 2003 the Australian Stock Exchange 

(ASX) Corporate Governance Council released its 

Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best 

Practice Recommendations (the Principles). The second 

edition of these Principles was released in August 2007. 

SERVICE ONE, because it is an unlisted public company, 

is not obliged to report on whether or not it follows 

the Principles. However, the Board has chosen to do 

so in relation to those matters which are material to 

non-listed public companies in acknowledgement of its 

responsibility for and commitment to best practice in 

corporate governance.

Although the primary driver of this document is the 

ASX Rules, it is also influenced by the release by APRA 

of its APS 510 – Governance Prudential Standard, 

stipulating the minimum governance requirements of 

Authorised Deposit-taking Institutions.

The Board recognises that achieving best practice 

is an ongoing process and will reflect changes in 

community thinking. 

SERVICE ONE has developed a corporate governance 

section on our website. The various codes, policies and 

terms of reference referred to in this statement are 

published on our website.

Board of Directors
The Board has adopted the following key 

responsibilities:

•	 act in the best interest of SERVICE ONE as a whole

•	 observe their duties as Directors in terms of 

corporations law, general law, SERVICE ONE’s 

Constitution and other relevant legislation 

•	 comply with APRA Prudential Standards, and 

•	 enhance Member value.

In order to meet these responsibilities, the key 

functions of the Board include:

•	 establishing, making appointments and making 

delegations to Board committees 

•	 appointing, delegating to, supporting, evaluating 

and rewarding the Chief Executive and having in 

place a succession plan 

•	 seeking to achieve a diverse and effective Board, 

with appropriate skills, operating standards and 

procedures for the Board and its committees 

•	 determining, monitoring and reviewing the 

strategic direction and objectives

•	 approving, monitoring and reviewing the strategic 

plan including financial and non-financial 

performance measures 

•	 ensuring that the principal business risks have 

been identified and the implementation and 

monitoring by management of a framework to 

manage those risks 

•	 reviewing, approving and monitoring policy, within 

a policy and compliance framework 

•	 ensuring a process is in place for the maintenance 

of the integrity of internal controls, and financial 

and management information systems 

•	 ensuring processes are in place so that SERVICE ONE 

acts legally and responsibly on all matters

•	 ensuring that appropriate ethical standards are 

maintained 

•	 reviewing, determining and monitoring the skills 

and performance of: 

 − the Board as a whole

 − Directors as individuals

 − Board sub-committees, and

•	 reporting to the Members on the Board’s 

stewardship as required.

Composition of the Board
The Constitution of SERVICE ONE (the Constitution) 

stipulates that the Board consists of a minimum of five 

and no more than 10 Directors. At all times the Board 

must have no less than five elected Directors. The 

Constitution also allows the Board to appoint a Director 

for a 12-month term.

Directors’ profiles appear on page 18 and 19. 

Subject to the following paragraphs, elected Directors 

serve a three year term and retire in rotation but may 

stand for re-election. Any Director appointed to fill 

a casual vacancy during the financial year must also 

have that appointment confirmed by a resolution of 

Members at that year’s AGM.
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 − any related significant findings and 

recommendations of the external auditor 

and the internal auditor together with 

management’s responses to such findings and 

recommendations 

•	 considering and reviewing with management and 

the internal auditor:

 − significant findings during the year and 

management’s responses to such findings 

 − any difficulties encountered in the course of 

internal audits, including any restrictions on 

the scope of their work or access to required 

information 

 − any changes required in the planned scope of 

the internal audit plan 

 − the internal audit budget and staffing

•	 reviewing legal and regulatory matters that 

may have a material impact on SERVICE ONE’s 

compliance policies and programs and reports 

received from APRA 

•	 considering and reviewing the policies and 

procedures for the selection, appointment and 

reappointment of the external auditor, the rotation 

of external audit engagement Partners and the 

terms of any such appointment 

•	 monitoring SERVICE ONE’s compliance with legal 

obligations to which it is subject, and 

•	 assisting the Board and management in monitoring 

risk management, controls and corporate 

governance performance.

In discharging the above general responsibilities 

the Committee will undertake the following 

specific functions:

•	 confirming and assuring the independence of the 

internal and external auditors 

•	 considering and reviewing, in consultation with the 

external auditor and the internal auditor, the audit 

scope and plan of the internal auditor and the 

external auditor 

•	 reviewing year-end accounts to ensure 

that such accounts have been prepared in 

accordance with proper accounting principles and 

recommending them for adoption by the Board – 

this will incorporate review of the management 

letter prepared by the external auditor and the 

management response to that letter 

•	 reviewing SERVICE ONE’s insurance arrangements 

•	 recommending the appointment and removal of 

the external auditor

•	 considering the level of fees payable to the external 

auditors, and 

•	 assessing the performance and independence of the 

external auditor and whether the independence 

of this function is maintained having regard to the 

provision of non-audit related services. 

The external and internal auditors have a direct line 

of communication to the Chair of the Audit and 

Compliance Committee and meet regularly, in camera, 

with the Committee. 

The external auditor of SERVICE ONE is Ernst & Young 

who attends the AGM of SERVICE ONE and is available 

to take questions from Members. 

The internal audit is outsourced to 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, a firm of chartered 

accountants. 

The internal audit function operates under 

documented standards and procedures for auditing 

that set out the purpose, authority and responsibility of 

the internal audit function. The function of the internal 

audit is to provide an independent assessment of risk 

and compliance with internal controls. 

The strategic internal audit plan is approved by the 

Audit and Compliance Committee each year and 

outlines a program of internal audits to be conducted 

for the year.

The results of all internal audits are reported to 

the Audit and Compliance Committee. In addition, 

processes have been put in place to ensure that 

appropriate follow-up actions are taken in relation to 

significant audit findings and identified areas of risk. 

The Head of Risk and Compliance attends all Audit and 

Compliance Committee meetings, other than the in 

camera sessions.

Board committees
The Board has three formally constituted standing 

committees to assist it in decision making, oversight 

and control:

•	 the Audit and Compliance Committee

•	 the Finance and Risk Committee, and

•	 the Corporate Governance Committee.

In addition to the above standing committees the 

Board also establishes the following ad hoc committees 

from time-to-time and as necessary:

•	 a Director Remuneration Committee

•	 a Director Nominations Committee, and

•	 a Constitutional Review Committee. 

All committees have written Terms of Reference.

Other than the Director Nominations Committee, 

membership of the committees comprises Directors 

with representatives of management attending 

committees as required. Membership of the Director 

Nominations committee comprises two non-members 

(Robyn FitzRoy and Alexander Sala) as well as the Chair 

of the Board. In the years that the Chair is a candidate 

for election to the Board another Director is chosen by 

the Board as the third member of the committee.

The minutes of all Board Committee meetings are 

tabled, and any recommendations are considered at 

the next scheduled Board meeting. The memberships 

of Board Committees are detailed on page 17 and 

attendances at meetings are set out in the Directors’ 

Report on page 28. 

All Directors are entitled to attend all Board 

Committee meetings.

The Corporate Governance Committee

The Committee’s role includes: 

•	 reviewing and reporting to the Board on 

current corporate governance policies and 

reviewing outcomes

•	 reviewing and reporting to the Board on 

best practice developments in corporate 

governance issues

•	 providing recommendations to the Board on 

corporate governance practices after assessment 

and review

•	 reviewing and reporting to the Board on SERVICE 

ONE’s compliance with APS 510 and the best 

practice recommendations of the ASX Corporate 

Governance Council

•	 reviewing disclosure of corporate governance 

policies and information on SERVICE ONE’s website

•	 providing recommendations to the Board on 

effective policies and procedures to ensure effective 

communication of SERVICE ONE’s corporate 

governance polices to Members, media, analysts 

and industry participants

•	 providing recommendations to the Board on 

technical or professional development courses to 

assist Directors in keeping up to date with relevant 

issues and practices, and

•	 discharge the duties of the Remuneration 

Committee pursuant to APS 510.

The Committee from time-to-time seeks advice from 

external experts.

audit and Compliance Committee

The Committee’s role includes:

•	 facilitating communication between the internal 

auditor, the external auditor and the Board 

•	 reviewing and considering any changes to 

accounting policies

•	 receiving and considering reports from 

management so as to determine the effectiveness 

of SERVICE ONE’s risk management systems

•	 if necessary, requiring the internal auditor or Head 

of Risk and Compliance to undertake an audit or 

compliance project and report on such 

•	 considering and reviewing with the external 

auditor, the internal auditor and management:

 − the adequacy of SERVICE ONE’s internal 

controls to minimise risk or exposures, including 

computerised information system controls and 

security 
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 − any related significant findings and 

recommendations of the external auditor 

and the internal auditor together with 

management’s responses to such findings and 

recommendations 

•	 considering and reviewing with management and 

the internal auditor:

 − significant findings during the year and 

management’s responses to such findings 

 − any difficulties encountered in the course of 

internal audits, including any restrictions on 

the scope of their work or access to required 

information 

 − any changes required in the planned scope of 

the internal audit plan 

 − the internal audit budget and staffing

•	 reviewing legal and regulatory matters that 

may have a material impact on SERVICE ONE’s 

compliance policies and programs and reports 

received from APRA 

•	 considering and reviewing the policies and 

procedures for the selection, appointment and 

reappointment of the external auditor, the rotation 

of external audit engagement Partners and the 

terms of any such appointment 

•	 monitoring SERVICE ONE’s compliance with legal 

obligations to which it is subject, and 

•	 assisting the Board and management in monitoring 

risk management, controls and corporate 

governance performance.

In discharging the above general responsibilities 

the Committee will undertake the following 

specific functions:

•	 confirming and assuring the independence of the 

internal and external auditors 

•	 considering and reviewing, in consultation with the 

external auditor and the internal auditor, the audit 

scope and plan of the internal auditor and the 

external auditor 

•	 reviewing year-end accounts to ensure 

that such accounts have been prepared in 

accordance with proper accounting principles and 

recommending them for adoption by the Board – 

this will incorporate review of the management 

letter prepared by the external auditor and the 

management response to that letter 

•	 reviewing SERVICE ONE’s insurance arrangements 

•	 recommending the appointment and removal of 

the external auditor

•	 considering the level of fees payable to the external 

auditors, and 

•	 assessing the performance and independence of the 

external auditor and whether the independence 

of this function is maintained having regard to the 

provision of non-audit related services. 

The external and internal auditors have a direct line 

of communication to the Chair of the Audit and 

Compliance Committee and meet regularly, in camera, 

with the Committee. 

The external auditor of SERVICE ONE is Ernst & Young 

who attends the AGM of SERVICE ONE and is available 

to take questions from Members. 

The internal audit is outsourced to 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, a firm of chartered 

accountants. 

The internal audit function operates under 

documented standards and procedures for auditing 

that set out the purpose, authority and responsibility of 
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The Chief Executive and CFO have provided the 

Board with statements that the financial reporting 

risk management and associated compliance controls 

have been assessed and found to be operating 

efficiently and effectively. The operational and 

other risk management compliance controls have also 

been assessed and found to be operating efficiently 

and effectively. 

At least annually, formal performance appraisals are 

conducted for all employees. 

SERVICE ONE has an active Occupational Health and 

Safety Committee. That Committee comprises both 

managers and other employees. 

ethical standards
The core values of SERVICE ONE centre on improving 

the quality and efficiency of financial service delivery by 

providing products and services to help Members meet 

their financial goals. 

To this end, SERVICE ONE is committed to maintaining 

the highest ethical standards in delivering products and 

services to its Members. 

SERVICE ONE acknowledges that personal financial 

information is sensitive and subject to privacy 

legislation. To this end, SERVICE ONE is committed to 

ethical and appropriate practices and compliance with 

relevant privacy legislation. It has in place processes 

to maintain the expectations of the community and 

Members for the security, privacy and integrity of 

personal financial information. Where appropriate, 

SERVICE ONE aims to conduct its operations 

without needing to rely on the collection of personal 

financial information.

The Board has adopted Codes of Conduct, which 

set out the expectations for Directors and staff in 

their business affairs and in dealings with Members. 

The Codes of Conduct require high standards of 

personal integrity and honesty in all dealings, a respect 

for the privacy of Members and others and observance 

of the law.

New staff members are provided with a copy of 

the Staff Business Code of Conduct when they join 

SERVICE ONE and it is readily accessible online for 

existing staff members. The Board regularly reviews 

all its policies to ensure their continued relevance and 

effectiveness. Where necessary, at a Board meeting 

Directors report on any interest that could potentially 

conflict with those of SERVICE ONE and report on any 

Director related transactions in the Notes to the Annual 

Financial Report.

Communication with 
members
The Board aims to ensure that Members are informed 

of all major developments affecting the state of affairs 

of SERVICE ONE. Information is communicated to 

Members as follows: 

•	 the Annual Report is distributed to all Members 

who request it and includes relevant information 

about the operations of SERVICE ONE during the 

year, changes in the state of affairs of SERVICE ONE 

and details of future developments, in addition 

to other disclosures required by the Corporations 

Act 2001 

•	 twice yearly a magazine is sent to all active 

Members of SERVICE ONE 

•	 when SERVICE ONE becomes aware of information 

which, in the view of the Board, requires Members 

to be notified a letter is sent to Members 

•	 SERVICE ONE regularly conducts surveys to 

determine the perceptions and feedback of 

Members 

•	 SERVICE ONE may, in some instances, communicate 

with Members via email should their details be 

available, and 

•	 the SERVICE ONE website contains information to 

keep Members informed of current events.

The Finance and Risk Committee

The Committee’s role includes:

•	 overseeing and monitoring SERVICE ONE’s policies 

and procedures in relation to the management and 

control of the following risks:

 − credit risk: being the risks from a borrower 

or counterparty failing to meet contractual 

obligations to SERVICE ONE or to perform 

as agreed 

 − liquidity risk: being the risk from SERVICE ONE’s 

inability to meet obligations when they become 

due without incurring unacceptable losses 

because of an inability to liquidate assets or to 

obtain adequate funding 

 − market risk: being the following risks:

 > funding risk: the risk of over-reliance on a 

particular funding source, the volatility of 

funding costs or availability of funding 

 > interest rate risk: the risk from movements 

in interest rates and the impact on pricing 

relationships between asset and liability 

products of a retail or wholesale nature 

 > the risk to earnings from fluctuations in 

exchange rates and market volatility 

 > the risk from changes in the value of 

portfolios of financial instruments 

 > the risk from material changes in global and 

domestic economic conditions generally

 − operational risk: being the risk attributable to 

the daily operations of SERVICE ONE

•	 reviewing and approving loan and other financial 

facility submissions, credit limits and exposures 

above the levels and limits delegated by the Board 

to management or within the levels and limits as 

specifically delegated to the Committee by the 

Board from time-to-time

•	 overseeing budget processes and reviewing and 

reporting to the Board on matters in relation to 

financial performance 

•	 reporting to the Board on all material matters 

arising from its review and monitoring functions 

by the provision to the Board of the Committee’s 

minutes of meetings or by special report, as 

appropriate 

•	 reviewing and making recommendations on any 

changes to risk limit structures, and 

•	 overseeing and monitoring management’s annual 

risk assessment. 

The Head of Risk and Compliance attends all Finance 

and Risk Committee meetings, other than the in 

camera sessions. 

internal control framework

Business risk identification and 
management

The Board monitors the operational and financial 

performance of SERVICE ONE against budget and 

other key performance measures through a structure 

of regular management reports to the Board and 

its committees. The Board also receives and reviews 

reports and advice on areas of operational and 

financial risk. The Audit and Compliance Committee 

reviews on an annual basis the adequacy of insurance 

coverage to mitigate certain operational risks of 

SERVICE ONE. 

SERVICE ONE has established controls at the Board, 

Executive and business unit levels that are designed to 

safeguard the interests of SERVICE ONE and ensure the 

integrity of reporting (including accounting, financial 

reporting, occupational health and safety, and other 

internal control policies and procedures).

These controls are designed to ensure that SERVICE 

ONE complies with regulatory requirements and 

community standards. 

The Chief Executive and the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) 

provide the Board with statements about SERVICE 

ONE’s financial reports and compliance with the 

Corporations Act, APRA’s Prudential Standards and 

the Accounting Standards. The statements reflect the 

declarations required to be made by Directors in the 

Annual Financial Report.
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Review of operations
The results of the Credit Union’s operations are 

as follows:

Reserves

An amount of $350,000 (2009: $1,427,000 from 

reserves) was transferred to reserves and $9,000 

(2009: $9,000) was transferred to capital. Members’ 

funds, representing reserves and capital, now total 

$19,581,000 (2008: $19,331,000).

assets

Assets increased by 2.2% to $286,822,000  

(2009: $280,596,000).

loans

Loan balances increased by 10.9% to $237,382,000 

(2009: $214,008,000).

Deposits

Deposit balances increased by 3.4% to $262,330,000 

(2009: $253,643,000).

members

Shareholder numbers increased by 0.5% to 34,365 

(2009: 34,205).

significant changes in 
state of affairs
No matter or circumstance that has arisen since the 

end of the year has significantly affected or may 

significantly effect:

(i) the operations of the Credit Union

(ii) the results of those operations, or

(iii) the state of affairs of the Credit Union

in the financial years subsequent to this financial year.

likely developments 
and results
Other than in the normal course of business, no 

significant developments are expected in the Credit 

Union’s operation in future financial years.

Rounding
The amounts contained in the financial statements 

have been rounded to the nearest one thousand 

dollars, in accordance with ASIC Class Order 98/100. 

The Credit Union is permitted to round to the 

nearest one thousand dollars ($’000) for all amounts 

except prescribed disclosures which are shown in 

whole dollars.

Your Directors present their report, together with 

the financial statements of Service One Credit Union 

Limited (“the Credit Union”) and its consolidated 

entities (“the group”) for the year ended 30 June 2010.

Directors
The Directors of the Credit Union, in office during the 

year and at the date of this report are:

Mr Erik Adriaanse

Mr John Clarke 

Professor Jennifer Corbett 

Mr Ian Davis

Ms Heather Nash 

Mr Winston Phillips

Mrs Deborah Robinson, and 

Mr Ivan Slavich.

Details of each Director’s qualifications, experience and 

special responsibilities are detailed on pages 18 and 19 

of the Credit Union’s Annual Report.

Company secretaries as at 
30 June 2010
Peter L Carlin BA (Acctng) FCPA

Mr Carlin has been a Company Secretary and Chief 

Executive of Service One Credit Union Limited for 9 

years. Prior to holding this position he was Company 

Secretary and CEO of The Credit Union of Canberra for 

6 years.

Mr Carlin has been a CPA for over 16 years.

Matthew D Smith BComm CPA

Mr Smith has been a Company Secretary of Service 

One Credit Union Limited for 6 years and Chief Finance 

Officer of Service One Credit Union Limited for 9 years. 

Prior to holding this position he was CFO of The Credit 

Union of Canberra for 6 years.

Mr Smith has been a CPA for over 10 years.

indemnifying an officer 
or auditor
No indemnities have been given or paid, during or since 

the end of the financial year, for any person who is or 

has been an officer or auditor of the Credit Union.

Insurance premiums have been paid to insure each 

of the Directors and Executive Officers of the Credit 

Union, against any costs and expenses incurred by 

them in defending any legal proceeding arising out 

of their conduct, while acting in their capacity as an 

officer of the Credit Union. The premiums relating to 

this insurance cannot be disclosed under the terms and 

conditions of this policy.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Credit Union and the 

group during the financial year were the provision of 

retail financial services, insurance and other associated 

services to the Members of the Credit Union in 

accordance with the Constitution of the Credit Union.

There were no significant changes in the principal 

activities during the year.

operating results
The Net Profit, after income tax, for the financial year 

ended 30 June 2010 was $334,000 (2009: -$1,418,000). 

This represents an 123% increase for the financial year.

In accordance with Rule 7.1 of the Constitution of the 

Credit Union, no dividends are payable.
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audit independence
The Directors have been provided the Auditor’s Independence Declaration and that Declaration appears below.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

      

J C Clarke E M Adriaanse

Chair Chair – Audit and Compliance Committee

Dated this 12th day of August 2010.

auditor’s independence Declaration to the  
Directors of service one Credit union limited
In relation to our audit of the financial report of Service One Credit Union Limited for the financial year ended 30 

June 2010, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor independence 

requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional conduct.

Ernst & Young 

Andrew Gilder

Partner

12 August 2010
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Erik Adriaanse 7 10   5 5   

John Clarke 10 10 5 5 3 3

Jennifer Corbett 9 10 6 6   

Ian Davis 9 10     4 4

Heather Nash 10 10 6 6     

Winston Phillips 9 10 6 6     

Deborah Robinson 10 10   5 5   

Ivan Slavich 10 10     4 4
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Erik Adriaanse 1 1 1 1

John Clarke 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Jennifer Corbett 1 1   

Ian Davis 1 1 1 1

Heather Nash 1 1   

Winston Phillips 1 1   

Deborah Robinson 1 1 1 1

Ivan Slavich 1  1 1 1 1 1

Directors’ benefits
No Director has received or become entitled to receive, during the financial year or since 30 June 2010, a benefit (other 

than benefits disclosed at note 25 of the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Credit Union, or 

an entity within the Credit Union group, with the Director, a firm of which the Director is a member, or a company in 

which the Director has a substantial financial interest.
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which the Director has a substantial financial interest.



31SERVICE ONE ANNUAL REPORT 09/1030 SERVICE ONE ANNUAL REPORT 09/10

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 30 June 2010 Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Interest income 3 17,299 19,303 17,299 19,303

Interest expense 3 (6,897) (11,843) (6,897) (11,843)

Net interest income 3 10,402 7,460 10,402 7,460

Other operating income 4 3,703 4,296 3,703 4,296

Impairment losses on loans and advances 9 (c) (462) (76) (462) (76)

Other operating expenses 4 (13,166) (13,471) (13,166) (13,471)

Profit/(Loss) before income tax expense 477 (1,791) 477 (1,791)

Income tax (expense)/benefit 5 (143) 373 (143) 373

Net profit/(loss) after tax attributable to Members 334 (1,418) 334 (1,418)

Other comprehensive income

Loss on cash flow hedges taken to equity (119) - (119) -

Income tax benefit on items of other comprehensive income 35 - 35 -

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year, net of tax (84) - (84) -

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) attributable to Members 250 (1,418) 250 (1,418)

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Financial Report
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Financial Report
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EqUITY

For the year ended 30 June 2010

CONSOLIDATED

Cash Flow 
Hedge 

Reserve

Capital 
Redemption 

Account
Retained 

Profits

General 
Reserve for 

Credit Losses
General 
Reserve Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening – 1st July 2008 - 385 - 436 19,928 20,749

Loss for the year - - (1,418) - - (1,418)

Other comprehensive income - - - - - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (1,418) - - (1,418)

Transfer from/(to) general reserve - - 1,427 - (1,427) -

Transfer from/(to) capital redemption reserve - 9 (9) - - -

Closing – 30th June 2009 - 394 - 436 18,501 19,331

Opening – 1st July 2009 - 394 - 436 18,501 19,331

Profit for the year - - 334 - - 334

Other comprehensive income (84) - - - - (84)

Total comprehensive profit for the year (84) - 334 - - 250

Transfer from/(to) general reserve - - (325) - 325 -

Transfer from/(to) capital redemption reserve - 9 (9) - - -

Closing – 30th June 2010 (84) 403 - 436 18,826 19,581

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 30 June 2010 Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 6 11,807 5,463 11,807 5,463

Receivables due from other financial institutions 7 31,785 54,527 31,785 54,527

Accrued receivables 8 207 263 207 263

Loans and advances 9 237,382 214,008 237,382 214,008

Available for sale investments 11 1,380 1,496 1,180 1,296

Property, plant and equipment 12 1,522 1,811 1,522 1,811

Intangibles 13 1,516 1,818 1,516 1,818

Deferred tax assets 5 577 769 577 769

Current tax receivables 174 174 174 174

Other 14 472 267 472 267

TOTAL ASSETS 286,822 280,596 286,622 280,396

LIABILITIES 

Payables to other financial institutions 15 26 17 26 17

Deposits and borrowings 16 262,747 256,333 262,747 256,333

Other financial liabilities 17 487 1,125 487 1,125

Deferred tax liabilities 5 9 92 9 92

Trade and other payables 18 3,474 3,275 3,474 3,275

Provisions 19 498 423 498 423

TOTAL LIABILITIES 267,241 261,265 267,241 261,265

NET ASSETS 19,581 19,331 19,381 19,131

MEMBERS’ FUNDS

Reserves 19,178 18,937 18,978 18,737

Capital 403 394 403 394

TOTAL MEMBERS’ FUNDS 19,581 19,331 19,381 19,131

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



32 33SERVICE ONE ANNUAL REPORT 09/10SERVICE ONE ANNUAL REPORT 09/10

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EqUITY
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 30 June 2010 Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Interest received 17,355 19,956 17,355 19,956

Interest costs (7,640) (10,617) (7,640) (10,617)

Fees and commissions received 3,387 3,851 3,387 3,851

Payments to suppliers and employees (11,745) (12,037) (11,745) (12,037)

GST paid (224) (343) (224) (343)

GST received 132 105 132 105

Dividends received 78 168 78 168

Income tax paid - (781) - (781)

Miscellaneous receipts 166 273 166 273

Net cash flows from operating activities 20 (a) 1,509 575 1,509 575

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Net (increase)/decrease in investments 22,858 (16,745) 22,858 (16,745)

Net (increase)/decrease in loans to Members (23,836) (1,303) (23,836) (1,303)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 257 9 257 9

Payments for intangibles, property, plant and equipment (858) (1,981) (858) (1,981)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (1,579) (20,020) (1,579) (20,020)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net increase in deposits from Members 8,687 12,821 8,687 12,821

Net cash flows from financing activities 8,687 12,821 8,687 12,821

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 8,617 (6,624) 8,617 (6,624)

Cash at beginning of year 2,773 9,397 2,773 9,397

CLOSING CASH CARRIED FORWARD 20 (b) 11,390 2,773 11,390 2,773

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EqUITY

For the year ended 30 June 2010

SERVICE ONE CREDIT UNION LTD

Cash Flow 
Hedge 

Reserve

Capital 
Redemption 

Account
Retained 

Profits

General 
Reserve for 

Credit Losses
General 
Reserve Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening – 1st July 2008 - 385 - 436 19,728 20,549

Loss for the year - - (1,418) - - (1,418)

Other comprehensive income - - - - - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (1,418) - - (1,418)

Transfer from/(to) general reserve - - 1,427 - (1,427) -

Transfer from/(to) capital redemption reserve - 9 (9) - - -

Closing – 30th June 2009 - 394 - 436 18,301 19,131

Opening – 1st July 2009 - 394 - 436 18,301 19,131

Profit for the year - - 334 - - 334

Other comprehensive income (84) - - - - (84)

Total comprehensive loss for the year (84) - 334 - - 250

Transfer from/(to) general reserve - - (325) - 325 -

Transfer (from)/to capital redemption reserve - 9 (9) - - -

Closing – 30th June 2010 (84) 403 - 436 18,626 19,381

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EqUITY

For the year ended 30 June 2010

SERVICE ONE CREDIT UNION LTD

Cash Flow 
Hedge 

Reserve

Capital 
Redemption 

Account
Retained 

Profits
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Reserve for 
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Reserve Total
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The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)

Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective.

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective have not been 
adopted by the Credit Union for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2010:

Reference Title Summary

Application 
date of 
standard

Nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date of 
standard/ 
interpretation

AASB  
2009-5

Further 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
arising from 
the Annual 
Improvements 
Project

[AASB 5, 8, 101, 
107, 117, 118, 
136 & 139]

The amendments to some Standards result 
in accounting changes for presentation, 
recognition or measurement purposes, while 
some amendments that relate to terminology 
and editorial changes are expected to have no 
or minimal effect on accounting except for the 
following:

The amendment to AASB 117 removes the 
specific guidance on classifying land as a lease 
so that only the general guidance remains.  
Assessing land leases based on the general 
criteria may result in more land leases being 
classified as finance leases and if so, the type 
of asset which is to be recorded (intangible vs. 
property, plant and equipment) needs to be 
determined.

The amendment to AASB 101 stipulates that the 
terms of a liability that could result, at anytime, 
in its settlement by the issuance of equity 
instruments at the option of the counterparty 
do not affect its classification.

The amendment to AASB 107 explicitly 
states that only expenditure that results in a 
recognised asset can be classified as a cash flow 
from investing activities.

The amendment to AASB 118 provides 
additional guidance to determine whether an 
entity is acting as a principal or as an agent.  
The features indicating an entity is acting as a 
principal are whether the entity:

•	 has	primary	responsibility	for	providing	the	
goods or service;

•	 has	inventory	risk;

•	 has	discretion	in	establishing	prices;

•	 bears	the	credit	risk.

1 January 2010 No change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2010

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
Service One Credit Union Ltd (the Credit Union) is a company 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The Members are the 
owners of the Credit Union. 

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the 
Credit Union are described in the Directors’ Report.

The registered office is at 75 Denison Street Deakin ACT. 

The financial report of the Credit Union for the year ended 
30th June 2010 was authorised for issuance with a resolution 
of the Board of Directors on 12th August 2010.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES

(a) Basis of Preparation

The general purpose financial report has been prepared 
in accordance with Australian equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), the Corporations Act 
2001, applicable accounting standards and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements. The financial report 
has also been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for 
derivative financial assets and liabilities, which have been 
measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with industry 
standard and those of the previous year. 

The balance sheet is presented on a liquidity basis. Assets and 
liabilities are presented in decreasing order of liquidity and are 
not distinguished between current and non-current. Additional 
information regarding this is included in the relevant notes. 

The financial report is presented in Australian Dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000), unless 
otherwise stated, under the option available to the Credit Union 
under ASIC Class Order 98/100. The Credit Union is an entity to 
which this class order applies.

(b) Statement of Compliance

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting 
Standards as issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board. 

(c) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the 
previous financial year except as follows:

The Credit Union has adopted the following new and amended 
Australian Accounting Standards and AASB Interpretations as of 
1 July 2009:

•	 AASB	7	Financial	Instruments:	Disclosures	effective	1	July	2009

•	 AASB	8	Operating	Segments	effective	1	July	2009

•	 AASB	101	Presentation	of	Financial	Statements	(revised	2007)	
effective 1 July 2009

•	 AASB	2008-5	Amendments	to	Australian	Accounting	
Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project 
effective 1 July 2009

When the adoption of the Standard or Interpretation is deemed 
to have an impact on the financial statements or performance of 
the Credit Union, its impact is described below:

AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

The amended Standard requires additional disclosures 
about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. Fair value 
measurements related to all financial instruments recognised 
and measured at fair value are to be disclosed by source of inputs 
using a three level fair value hierarchy, by class. In addition, 
a reconciliation between the beginning and ending balance 
for level 3 fair value measurements is now required, as well as 
significant transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy. 
The amendments also clarify the requirements for liquidity risk 
disclosures with respect to derivative transactions and assets used 
for liquidity management.

The fair value measurement disclosures are presented in note 29 
(d). The liquidity risk disclosures are not significantly impacted by 
the amendments and are presented in note 3.

AASB 8 Operating Segments

AASB 8 replaced AASB 114 Segment Reporting upon its effective 
date. The Credit Union is no longer required to prepare segment 
disclosures under AASB 8.

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements

The revised Standard separates owner and non-owner changes 
in equity. The statement of changes in equity includes only 
details of transactions with owners, with non-owner changes in 
equity presented in a reconciliation of each component of equity 
and included in the new statement of comprehensive income. 
The statement of comprehensive income presents all items of 
recognised income and expense, either in one single statement, 
or in two linked statements. The Credit Union has elected to 
present one statement.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)

Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective.

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective have not been 
adopted by the Credit Union for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2010:
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the Annual 
Improvements 
Project

[AASB 5, 8, 101, 
107, 117, 118, 
136 & 139]
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so that only the general guidance remains.  
Assessing land leases based on the general 
criteria may result in more land leases being 
classified as finance leases and if so, the type 
of asset which is to be recorded (intangible vs. 
property, plant and equipment) needs to be 
determined.

The amendment to AASB 101 stipulates that the 
terms of a liability that could result, at anytime, 
in its settlement by the issuance of equity 
instruments at the option of the counterparty 
do not affect its classification.

The amendment to AASB 107 explicitly 
states that only expenditure that results in a 
recognised asset can be classified as a cash flow 
from investing activities.

The amendment to AASB 118 provides 
additional guidance to determine whether an 
entity is acting as a principal or as an agent.  
The features indicating an entity is acting as a 
principal are whether the entity:

•	 has	primary	responsibility	for	providing	the	
goods or service;

•	 has	inventory	risk;

•	 has	discretion	in	establishing	prices;

•	 bears	the	credit	risk.

1 January 2010 No change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2010

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
Service One Credit Union Ltd (the Credit Union) is a company 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The Members are the 
owners of the Credit Union. 

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the 
Credit Union are described in the Directors’ Report.

The registered office is at 75 Denison Street Deakin ACT. 

The financial report of the Credit Union for the year ended 
30th June 2010 was authorised for issuance with a resolution 
of the Board of Directors on 12th August 2010.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES

(a) Basis of Preparation

The general purpose financial report has been prepared 
in accordance with Australian equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), the Corporations Act 
2001, applicable accounting standards and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements. The financial report 
has also been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for 
derivative financial assets and liabilities, which have been 
measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with industry 
standard and those of the previous year. 

The balance sheet is presented on a liquidity basis. Assets and 
liabilities are presented in decreasing order of liquidity and are 
not distinguished between current and non-current. Additional 
information regarding this is included in the relevant notes. 

The financial report is presented in Australian Dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000), unless 
otherwise stated, under the option available to the Credit Union 
under ASIC Class Order 98/100. The Credit Union is an entity to 
which this class order applies.

(b) Statement of Compliance

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting 
Standards as issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board. 

(c) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the 
previous financial year except as follows:

The Credit Union has adopted the following new and amended 
Australian Accounting Standards and AASB Interpretations as of 
1 July 2009:

•	 AASB	7	Financial	Instruments:	Disclosures	effective	1	July	2009

•	 AASB	8	Operating	Segments	effective	1	July	2009

•	 AASB	101	Presentation	of	Financial	Statements	(revised	2007)	
effective 1 July 2009

•	 AASB	2008-5	Amendments	to	Australian	Accounting	
Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project 
effective 1 July 2009

When the adoption of the Standard or Interpretation is deemed 
to have an impact on the financial statements or performance of 
the Credit Union, its impact is described below:

AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

The amended Standard requires additional disclosures 
about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. Fair value 
measurements related to all financial instruments recognised 
and measured at fair value are to be disclosed by source of inputs 
using a three level fair value hierarchy, by class. In addition, 
a reconciliation between the beginning and ending balance 
for level 3 fair value measurements is now required, as well as 
significant transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy. 
The amendments also clarify the requirements for liquidity risk 
disclosures with respect to derivative transactions and assets used 
for liquidity management.

The fair value measurement disclosures are presented in note 29 
(d). The liquidity risk disclosures are not significantly impacted by 
the amendments and are presented in note 3.

AASB 8 Operating Segments

AASB 8 replaced AASB 114 Segment Reporting upon its effective 
date. The Credit Union is no longer required to prepare segment 
disclosures under AASB 8.

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements

The revised Standard separates owner and non-owner changes 
in equity. The statement of changes in equity includes only 
details of transactions with owners, with non-owner changes in 
equity presented in a reconciliation of each component of equity 
and included in the new statement of comprehensive income. 
The statement of comprehensive income presents all items of 
recognised income and expense, either in one single statement, 
or in two linked statements. The Credit Union has elected to 
present one statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)

Reference Title Summary

Application 
date of 
standard

Nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date of 
standard/ 
interpretation

AASB 
2009-12

Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
[AASBs 5, 8, 
108, 110, 112, 
119, 133, 137, 
139, 1023 
& 1031 and 
Interpretations 
2, 4, 16, 1039 & 
1052]

This amendment makes numerous editorial 
changes to a range of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations.

The amendment to AASB 124 clarifies and 
simplifies the definition of a related party as well 
as providing some relief for government-related 
entities (as defined in the amended standard) 
to disclose details of all transactions with other 
government-related entities (as well as with the 
government itself).

1 January 2011 No 
change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore 
no impact.

1 July 2011

AASB 
2009-13

Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
arising from 
Interpretation 
19 
[AASB 1] 

This amendment to AASB 1 allows a first-time 
adopter may apply the transitional provisions in 
Interpretation 19 as identified in AASB 1048. 

1 July 2010 No 
change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore 
no impact.

1 July 2010

Interpre- 
tation 19

Interpretation 
19 
Extinguishing 
Financial 
Liabilities 
with Equity 
Instruments

This interpretation clarifies that equity instruments 
issued to a creditor to extinguish a financial 
liability are “consideration paid” in accordance 
with paragraph 41 of IAS 39. As a result, the 
financial liability is derecognised and the equity 
instruments issued are treated as consideration 
paid to extinguish that financial liability. 

The interpretation states that equity instruments 
issued in a debt for equity swap should be 
measured at the fair value of the equity 
instruments issued, if this can be determined 
reliably. If the fair value of the equity instruments 
issued is not reliably determinable, the equity 
instruments should be measured by reference to 
the fair value of the financial liability extinguished 
as of the date of extinguishment.

1 July 2010 No 
change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore 
no impact.

1 July 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)

Reference Title Summary

Application 
date of 
standard

Nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date of 
standard/ 
interpretation

AASB 
2009-5 
(con’t)

Further 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
arising from 
the Annual 
Improvements 
Project

[AASB 5, 8, 101, 
107, 117, 118, 
136 & 139]

The amendment to AASB 136 clarifies that the 
largest unit permitted for allocating goodwill 
acquired in a business combination is the 
operating segment, as defined in IFRS 8 before 
aggregation for reporting purposes.

The main change to AASB 139 clarifies that a 
prepayment option is considered closely related 
to the host contract when the exercise price of a 
prepayment option reimburses the lender up to 
the approximate present value of lost interest for 
the remaining term of the host contract.

The other changes clarify the scope exemption 
for business combination contracts and provide 
clarification in relation to accounting for  
cash flow hedges.

AASB 
2009-11

Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
arising from 
AASB 9 
[AASB 1, 3, 
4, 5, 7, 101, 
102, 108, 112, 
118, 121, 127, 
128, 131, 132, 
136, 139, 1023 
& 1038 and 
Interpretations 
10 & 12]

The revised Standard introduces a number of 
changes to the accounting for financial assets, the 
most significant of which includes:

•	 two	categories	for	financial	assets	being	
amortised cost or fair value

•	 removal	of	the	requirement	to	separate	
embedded derivatives in financial assets

•	 strict	requirements	to	determine	which	
financial assets can be classified as amortised 
cost or fair value, Financial assets can only be 
classified as amortised cost if (a) the contractual 
cash flows from the instrument represent 
principal and interest and (b) the entity’s 
purpose for holding the instrument is to collect 
the contractual cash flows

•	 an	option	for	investments	in	equity	instruments	
which are not held for trading to recognise fair 
value changes through other comprehensive 
income with no impairment testing and 
no recycling through profit or loss on 
derecognition

•	 reclassifications	between	amortised	cost	and	fair	
value no longer permitted unless the entity’s 
business model for holding the asset changes

•	 changes	to	the	accounting	and	additional	
disclosures for equity instruments classified as 
fair value through other comprehensive income

1 January 2013 No 
change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore 
no impact.

1 July 2013
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)

Reference Title Summary

Application 
date of 
standard

Nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date of 
standard/ 
interpretation

AASB 
2009-12

Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
[AASBs 5, 8, 
108, 110, 112, 
119, 133, 137, 
139, 1023 
& 1031 and 
Interpretations 
2, 4, 16, 1039 & 
1052]

This amendment makes numerous editorial 
changes to a range of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations.

The amendment to AASB 124 clarifies and 
simplifies the definition of a related party as well 
as providing some relief for government-related 
entities (as defined in the amended standard) 
to disclose details of all transactions with other 
government-related entities (as well as with the 
government itself).

1 January 2011 No 
change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore 
no impact.

1 July 2011

AASB 
2009-13

Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
arising from 
Interpretation 
19 
[AASB 1] 

This amendment to AASB 1 allows a first-time 
adopter may apply the transitional provisions in 
Interpretation 19 as identified in AASB 1048. 

1 July 2010 No 
change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore 
no impact.

1 July 2010

Interpre- 
tation 19

Interpretation 
19 
Extinguishing 
Financial 
Liabilities 
with Equity 
Instruments

This interpretation clarifies that equity instruments 
issued to a creditor to extinguish a financial 
liability are “consideration paid” in accordance 
with paragraph 41 of IAS 39. As a result, the 
financial liability is derecognised and the equity 
instruments issued are treated as consideration 
paid to extinguish that financial liability. 

The interpretation states that equity instruments 
issued in a debt for equity swap should be 
measured at the fair value of the equity 
instruments issued, if this can be determined 
reliably. If the fair value of the equity instruments 
issued is not reliably determinable, the equity 
instruments should be measured by reference to 
the fair value of the financial liability extinguished 
as of the date of extinguishment.

1 July 2010 No 
change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore 
no impact.

1 July 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)

Reference Title Summary

Application 
date of 
standard

Nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date of 
standard/ 
interpretation

AASB 
2009-5 
(con’t)

Further 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
arising from 
the Annual 
Improvements 
Project

[AASB 5, 8, 101, 
107, 117, 118, 
136 & 139]

The amendment to AASB 136 clarifies that the 
largest unit permitted for allocating goodwill 
acquired in a business combination is the 
operating segment, as defined in IFRS 8 before 
aggregation for reporting purposes.

The main change to AASB 139 clarifies that a 
prepayment option is considered closely related 
to the host contract when the exercise price of a 
prepayment option reimburses the lender up to 
the approximate present value of lost interest for 
the remaining term of the host contract.

The other changes clarify the scope exemption 
for business combination contracts and provide 
clarification in relation to accounting for  
cash flow hedges.

AASB 
2009-11

Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
arising from 
AASB 9 
[AASB 1, 3, 
4, 5, 7, 101, 
102, 108, 112, 
118, 121, 127, 
128, 131, 132, 
136, 139, 1023 
& 1038 and 
Interpretations 
10 & 12]

The revised Standard introduces a number of 
changes to the accounting for financial assets, the 
most significant of which includes:

•	 two	categories	for	financial	assets	being	
amortised cost or fair value

•	 removal	of	the	requirement	to	separate	
embedded derivatives in financial assets

•	 strict	requirements	to	determine	which	
financial assets can be classified as amortised 
cost or fair value, Financial assets can only be 
classified as amortised cost if (a) the contractual 
cash flows from the instrument represent 
principal and interest and (b) the entity’s 
purpose for holding the instrument is to collect 
the contractual cash flows

•	 an	option	for	investments	in	equity	instruments	
which are not held for trading to recognise fair 
value changes through other comprehensive 
income with no impairment testing and 
no recycling through profit or loss on 
derecognition

•	 reclassifications	between	amortised	cost	and	fair	
value no longer permitted unless the entity’s 
business model for holding the asset changes

•	 changes	to	the	accounting	and	additional	
disclosures for equity instruments classified as 
fair value through other comprehensive income

1 January 2013 No 
change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore 
no impact.

1 July 2013
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For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash 
inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs, unless the asset’s 
value in use can be estimated to be close to its fair value. 
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash-
generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 
The asset or cash-generating unit is then written down to its 
recoverable amount.

For plant and equipment, impairment losses are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(i) Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and following 
initial recognition, at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets include the 
value of computer software. 

Intangible assets are amortised over their useful life and assessed 
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
intangible assets may be impaired.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite 
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised 
over the useful life and assessed for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. 
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an 
intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at 
each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or 
expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the 
amortisation period or method, as appropriate, which is a change 
in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangibles 
with finite useful lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense 
category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

All recognised intangible assets have been assessed as having a 
finite useful life and the major amortisation periods are:

2010 2009

•		 Computer	software	 3 to 7 years 3 to 7 years

(j) Deposits and Borrowings

Deposits

All Member deposits are initially recognised at the fair value 
of the amount received. After initial recognition, deposits are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. 

Interest is calculated on the daily balance and posted to the 
accounts periodically, or on maturity of the term deposit. Interest 
on savings is brought to account on an accrual basis. The amount 
of the accrual is shown as part of trade and other payables.

Borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, 
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount 
is  recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income over 
the period of the loan and borrowings using the effective 
interest rate method.

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

(k) Employee Benefits

Wages, Salaries, Annual Leave and Sick Leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick leave expected to 
be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised 
in other payables in respect of employees’ services up to the 
reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected 
to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-
accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken 
and are measured at the rates paid or payable. 

Long Service Leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision 
for employee benefits and measured at the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date using a 
probability based assessment method. Consideration is given to 
expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures, and period of service. Expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the reporting date on bank 
bill swap rates with terms to maturity that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

Superannuation

Contributions are made by the Credit Union to an employee’s 
superannuation fund and are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income as incurred.

(l) Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised 
cost and represent liabilities for goods and services provided 
to the Credit Union prior to the end of the financial year that 
are unpaid and arise when the Credit Union becomes obligated 
to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these 
goods and services. Trade liabilities are normally settled on  
30 day terms.

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash 
at bank and in hand. For the purposes of the statement of cash 
flows, cash and cash equivalents consists of cash on hand and in 
banks, and money market investments readily convertible to cash 
within 2 working days, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(e) Receivables Due From Other Financial Institutions

Receivables due from other financial institutions consist of 
short term deposits and are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

Interest is accrued on a monthly basis and recognised when 
earned.

(f) Loans and Advances

Loans and advances are financial assets with fixed and 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
These assets, including loans to key management personnel, are 
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking 
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 
and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

The loan interest is calculated on the daily balance outstanding 
and is charged in arrears to a Member’s account monthly.

(g) Derivative Financial Instruments

The Credit Union enters into interest rate swap contracts for 
managing interest rate risk that arises from re-pricing gaps 
between assets and liabilities and does not enter into these swaps 
for speculative purposes. See Note 29 (d) for derivative financial 
instrument disclosures.

Interest rate swap contracts are recognised at fair value in the 
balance sheet. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the 
fair value of derivatives, except for those that qualify as cash 
flow hedges, are taken directly to the profit or loss for the year.  
Interest rate swap contracts are recognised as an asset when their 
value is positive and as a liability when their value is negative.

Hedge Accounting

For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as 
cash flow hedges when they hedge the exposure to variability in 
cash flows that is attributable either to a particular risk associated 
with a recognised asset or liability or to a forecast transaction that 
could affect profit or loss. 

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is recognised directly in equity, while the ineffective 
portion is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts taken to equity 

are transferred out of equity and included in the measurement of 
the hedged transaction when the forecast transaction occurs.

The Credit Union tests each of the designated cash flow hedges 
for effectiveness on a yearly basis using the dollar offset 
method. If the testing falls within the 80:125 range, the hedge 
is considered highly effective and continues to be designated as 
a cash flow hedge.

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
amounts recognised in equity are transferred to the statement of 
comprehensive income.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or 
exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation 
as a hedge is revoked (due to it being ineffective), amounts 
previously recognised in equity remain in equity until the 
forecast transaction occurs.

(h) Property, Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less, where applicable, 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Where lease agreements include a requirement to restore 
the site to its original condition, an estimate of those costs is 
included in leasehold improvements and depreciated over the 
lease term.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, 
plant and equipment.

Major depreciation periods are:

2010 2009

•		 Leasehold	
improvements the lease term the lease term

•		 Plant,	equipment	and	
computer system 3 to 7 years 3 to 7 years

Impairment

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with the 
recoverable amount being estimated when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 
The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is the 
higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset.
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For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash 
inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs, unless the asset’s 
value in use can be estimated to be close to its fair value. 
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash-
generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 
The asset or cash-generating unit is then written down to its 
recoverable amount.

For plant and equipment, impairment losses are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(i) Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and following 
initial recognition, at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets include the 
value of computer software. 

Intangible assets are amortised over their useful life and assessed 
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
intangible assets may be impaired.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite 
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised 
over the useful life and assessed for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. 
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an 
intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at 
each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or 
expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the 
amortisation period or method, as appropriate, which is a change 
in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangibles 
with finite useful lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense 
category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

All recognised intangible assets have been assessed as having a 
finite useful life and the major amortisation periods are:

2010 2009

•		 Computer	software	 3 to 7 years 3 to 7 years

(j) Deposits and Borrowings

Deposits

All Member deposits are initially recognised at the fair value 
of the amount received. After initial recognition, deposits are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. 

Interest is calculated on the daily balance and posted to the 
accounts periodically, or on maturity of the term deposit. Interest 
on savings is brought to account on an accrual basis. The amount 
of the accrual is shown as part of trade and other payables.

Borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, 
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount 
is  recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income over 
the period of the loan and borrowings using the effective 
interest rate method.

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

(k) Employee Benefits

Wages, Salaries, Annual Leave and Sick Leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick leave expected to 
be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised 
in other payables in respect of employees’ services up to the 
reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected 
to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-
accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken 
and are measured at the rates paid or payable. 

Long Service Leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision 
for employee benefits and measured at the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date using a 
probability based assessment method. Consideration is given to 
expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures, and period of service. Expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the reporting date on bank 
bill swap rates with terms to maturity that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

Superannuation

Contributions are made by the Credit Union to an employee’s 
superannuation fund and are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income as incurred.

(l) Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised 
cost and represent liabilities for goods and services provided 
to the Credit Union prior to the end of the financial year that 
are unpaid and arise when the Credit Union becomes obligated 
to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these 
goods and services. Trade liabilities are normally settled on  
30 day terms.

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash 
at bank and in hand. For the purposes of the statement of cash 
flows, cash and cash equivalents consists of cash on hand and in 
banks, and money market investments readily convertible to cash 
within 2 working days, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(e) Receivables Due From Other Financial Institutions

Receivables due from other financial institutions consist of 
short term deposits and are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

Interest is accrued on a monthly basis and recognised when 
earned.

(f) Loans and Advances

Loans and advances are financial assets with fixed and 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
These assets, including loans to key management personnel, are 
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking 
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 
and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

The loan interest is calculated on the daily balance outstanding 
and is charged in arrears to a Member’s account monthly.

(g) Derivative Financial Instruments

The Credit Union enters into interest rate swap contracts for 
managing interest rate risk that arises from re-pricing gaps 
between assets and liabilities and does not enter into these swaps 
for speculative purposes. See Note 29 (d) for derivative financial 
instrument disclosures.

Interest rate swap contracts are recognised at fair value in the 
balance sheet. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the 
fair value of derivatives, except for those that qualify as cash 
flow hedges, are taken directly to the profit or loss for the year.  
Interest rate swap contracts are recognised as an asset when their 
value is positive and as a liability when their value is negative.

Hedge Accounting

For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as 
cash flow hedges when they hedge the exposure to variability in 
cash flows that is attributable either to a particular risk associated 
with a recognised asset or liability or to a forecast transaction that 
could affect profit or loss. 

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is recognised directly in equity, while the ineffective 
portion is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts taken to equity 

are transferred out of equity and included in the measurement of 
the hedged transaction when the forecast transaction occurs.

The Credit Union tests each of the designated cash flow hedges 
for effectiveness on a yearly basis using the dollar offset 
method. If the testing falls within the 80:125 range, the hedge 
is considered highly effective and continues to be designated as 
a cash flow hedge.

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
amounts recognised in equity are transferred to the statement of 
comprehensive income.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or 
exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation 
as a hedge is revoked (due to it being ineffective), amounts 
previously recognised in equity remain in equity until the 
forecast transaction occurs.

(h) Property, Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less, where applicable, 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Where lease agreements include a requirement to restore 
the site to its original condition, an estimate of those costs is 
included in leasehold improvements and depreciated over the 
lease term.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, 
plant and equipment.

Major depreciation periods are:

2010 2009

•		 Leasehold	
improvements the lease term the lease term

•		 Plant,	equipment	and	
computer system 3 to 7 years 3 to 7 years

Impairment

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with the 
recoverable amount being estimated when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 
The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is the 
higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset.
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Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are 
recognised in equity and not in profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a 
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 
of GST except:

•	 where	the	GST	incurred	on	a	purchase	of	goods	and	services	
is not recoverable from the ATO, in which case the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense item as applicable, and

•	 receivables	and	payables	are	stated	with	the	amount	of	
GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO 
is included as part of receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross 
basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, 
the ATO, are classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO.

(r) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are those of the 
consolidated entity, comprising the Credit Union and all entities 
that the Credit Union controlled from time to time during the 
year and at balance date. 

Information from the financial statements of subsidiaries is 
included from the date the parent company obtains control 
until such time as control ceases. Where there is loss of control 
of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial statements include 
the results for the part of the reporting period during which the 
parent company has control.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the 
same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent 
accounting policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any 
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. 

All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised 
profits arising from intra-group transactions, have been 
eliminated in full.

(s) Investments

Financial assets are classified as either financial assets at fair 
value through the profit and loss, loans and receivables, held-
to-maturity investments, or available for sale investments, as 
appropriate. The Credit Union determines the classification of 
financial assets after initial recognition and, when appropriate, 
re-evaluates the classification at the end of each year.

All investments have been classified as available-for-sale 
investments as at the end of the year.

Available for sale investments are those non-derivative financial 
assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified 
as financial assets at fair value, as a loan or receivable or as a held-
to-maturity investment. After initial recognition available-for-
sale investments are measured at fair value with gains or losses 
being recognised as a separate component of equity until the 
investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined 
to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss 
previously reported in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised 
financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market 
bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For 
investments with no active market, fair value is determined using 
valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s 
length market transactions, reference to current market value of 
another instrument that is substantially the same and discounted 
cash flow analysis. For investments in equity instruments that do 
not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose 
fair value cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost.

(t) Nature and Purpose of Members’ Funds

General Reserve

Any unappropriated profit/loss from the Credit Union’s operations 
is transferred to/from the General Reserve. The General Reserve 
contains amounts of retained profits that have been set aside by 
the Directors for the purpose of funding future operations of the 
Credit Union.

Asset Revaluation Reserve

Any revaluation increments or decrements of non-current assets 
are recorded in the Asset Revaluation Reserve.

Capital Redemption Account

Under the Corporations Act 2001 redeemable preference 
shares (Member shares) may only be redeemed out of profits 
or from a new share issue for the purposes of redemption. The 
Capital Redemption Account represents the shares redeemed by 
Members. Member shares for existing and new Members of the 
Credit Union are shown as liabilities.

(m) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Credit Union has a present 
obligation (legal, equitable or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Credit Union expects some or all of a provision to 
be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when 
the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to 
any provision is presented in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income net of any reimbursement. 

If the effect of time value of money is material, provisions are 
discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks 
specific to the liability. 

When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as a borrowing cost.

(n) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can be 
reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must 
also be met before revenue is recognised: 

Fees and Commissions

Loan fees are brought to account as income in the year of receipt. 
No loan fees were in excess of costs. Fee and commission income 
is recognised as revenue on an accrual basis.

Interest

For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, 
interest income or expense is recorded in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income at the effective rate, which is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter 
period where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset or financial liability.

Dividend Income 

Dividend income is recorded in non-interest income when the 
Credit Union’s right to receive the payment is established.

(o) Comparative Figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to 
conform with changes presented in these financial statements.

(p) Operating Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a 
lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires 
an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement 
is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. Operating lease incentives are 
recognised as a liability when received and subsequently 
reduced by allocating lease payments between rental 
expense and reduction of the liability.

(q) Taxes

Income Taxes

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods 
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or 
paid to the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). The tax rates and tax 
laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences 
at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at 
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each 
balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it 
has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or subsequently enacted at the 
balance date.
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Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are 
recognised in equity and not in profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a 
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 
of GST except:

•	 where	the	GST	incurred	on	a	purchase	of	goods	and	services	
is not recoverable from the ATO, in which case the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense item as applicable, and

•	 receivables	and	payables	are	stated	with	the	amount	of	
GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO 
is included as part of receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross 
basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, 
the ATO, are classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO.

(r) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are those of the 
consolidated entity, comprising the Credit Union and all entities 
that the Credit Union controlled from time to time during the 
year and at balance date. 

Information from the financial statements of subsidiaries is 
included from the date the parent company obtains control 
until such time as control ceases. Where there is loss of control 
of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial statements include 
the results for the part of the reporting period during which the 
parent company has control.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the 
same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent 
accounting policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any 
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. 

All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised 
profits arising from intra-group transactions, have been 
eliminated in full.

(s) Investments

Financial assets are classified as either financial assets at fair 
value through the profit and loss, loans and receivables, held-
to-maturity investments, or available for sale investments, as 
appropriate. The Credit Union determines the classification of 
financial assets after initial recognition and, when appropriate, 
re-evaluates the classification at the end of each year.

All investments have been classified as available-for-sale 
investments as at the end of the year.

Available for sale investments are those non-derivative financial 
assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified 
as financial assets at fair value, as a loan or receivable or as a held-
to-maturity investment. After initial recognition available-for-
sale investments are measured at fair value with gains or losses 
being recognised as a separate component of equity until the 
investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined 
to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss 
previously reported in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised 
financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market 
bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For 
investments with no active market, fair value is determined using 
valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s 
length market transactions, reference to current market value of 
another instrument that is substantially the same and discounted 
cash flow analysis. For investments in equity instruments that do 
not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose 
fair value cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost.

(t) Nature and Purpose of Members’ Funds

General Reserve

Any unappropriated profit/loss from the Credit Union’s operations 
is transferred to/from the General Reserve. The General Reserve 
contains amounts of retained profits that have been set aside by 
the Directors for the purpose of funding future operations of the 
Credit Union.

Asset Revaluation Reserve

Any revaluation increments or decrements of non-current assets 
are recorded in the Asset Revaluation Reserve.

Capital Redemption Account

Under the Corporations Act 2001 redeemable preference 
shares (Member shares) may only be redeemed out of profits 
or from a new share issue for the purposes of redemption. The 
Capital Redemption Account represents the shares redeemed by 
Members. Member shares for existing and new Members of the 
Credit Union are shown as liabilities.

(m) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Credit Union has a present 
obligation (legal, equitable or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Credit Union expects some or all of a provision to 
be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when 
the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to 
any provision is presented in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income net of any reimbursement. 

If the effect of time value of money is material, provisions are 
discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks 
specific to the liability. 

When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as a borrowing cost.

(n) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can be 
reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must 
also be met before revenue is recognised: 

Fees and Commissions

Loan fees are brought to account as income in the year of receipt. 
No loan fees were in excess of costs. Fee and commission income 
is recognised as revenue on an accrual basis.

Interest

For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, 
interest income or expense is recorded in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income at the effective rate, which is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter 
period where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset or financial liability.

Dividend Income 

Dividend income is recorded in non-interest income when the 
Credit Union’s right to receive the payment is established.

(o) Comparative Figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to 
conform with changes presented in these financial statements.

(p) Operating Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a 
lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires 
an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement 
is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. Operating lease incentives are 
recognised as a liability when received and subsequently 
reduced by allocating lease payments between rental 
expense and reduction of the liability.

(q) Taxes

Income Taxes

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods 
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or 
paid to the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). The tax rates and tax 
laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences 
at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at 
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each 
balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it 
has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or subsequently enacted at the 
balance date.
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When the Credit Union has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the 
Credit Union’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing 
involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the 
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying 
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration 
that the Credit Union could be required to repay.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the 
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Where an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification 
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability, and the 
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in 
profit or loss.

(w) Impairment of Loans and Advances

The Credit Union assesses at each balance date whether there is 
any objective evidence that a loan and advance to a Member, or a 
group of loans and advances, is impaired. A loan and advance, or 
a group of loans and advances, is deemed to be impaired if, and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of 
one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or 
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
loans and advances or group of loans and advances that can 
be reliably estimated. Objective evidence of impairment may 
include indications that the borrower, or a group of borrowers 
is experiencing financial difficulty, default or delinquency in 
interest or principal payments, the probability that they will 
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where 
observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in 
the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or 
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment 
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after 
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the 
allowance account. 

Bad debts are written off when identified. Identification may 
include: bankruptcy, clearout or unlikelihood of recovery. If a 
provision for impairment has been recognised in relation to a 
loan, write offs for bad debts are made against the provision. 
If no provision for impairment has previously been recognised, 
write offs for bad debts are recognised as expenses in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(x) Renegotiated Loans and Advances

Where possible, the Credit Union seeks to restructure loans rather 
than to take possession of collateral. This may involve extending 
the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan 
conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated, the loan 
is no longer considered past due. Management continuously 
reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and 
that future payments are likely to occur. The loans continue to 
be subject to an individual or collective impairment assessment, 
calculated using the loan’s original effective interest rate.

General Reserve for Credit Losses

The general reserve for credit losses is based on 0.5% of those 
Risk Weighted Assets for which a specific provision has not 
already been raised. Risk Weighted Assets are calculated using the 
formula of APRA’s Prudential Standards. 

(u) Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates, 
and Assumptions

In the process of applying the Credit Union’s accounting 
policies, management has used its judgement and made 
estimates in determining the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. The most significant use of judgements and estimates 
are as follows: 

Classification of and Valuation of Investments

The Credit Union has decided to classify investments in unlisted 
securities as available-for-sale investments and movements in 
fair value are recognised directly in equity. The fair values of 
unlisted securities not traded in an active market are recorded at 
historical cost. 

Recovery of Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary 
differences as management considers that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available to utilise those 
temporary differences. 

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

The Credit Union assesses impairment of all assets at each 
reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Credit 
Union and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. 
These include product performance, technology, economic and 
political environments and future product expectations. If an 
impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is determined. This involves value in use calculations, which 
incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions.

Long Service Leave Provision

Liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made 
in respect of all employees at balance date. In determining the 
present value of the liability, attrition rates and pay increases 
through promotion and inflation have been taken into account.

Estimation of Useful Lives of Assets

The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on 
historical experience as well as manufacturers’ warranties (for 
plant and equipment), lease terms (for leased equipment). In 
addition, the condition of the assets is assessed at least once 
per year and considered against the remaining useful life. 

Adjustments to useful life are made when considered necessary. 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based 
on historical experience and other factors, including reasonable 
expectations of future events. Management believes the estimates 
used in preparing the financial report are reasonable. Actual 
results in the future may differ from those reported. 

Impairment of Loans and Advances

The Credit Union reviews its problem loans at each reporting 
date to assess whether an allowance for impairment should 
be recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
In particular, judgement by management is required in the 
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when 
determining the level of allowance required. Such estimates 
are based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual 
results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance.

In addition to specific allowances against individually significant 
loans and advances, the Credit Union also makes a collective 
impairment allowance against exposures, which, although not 
specifically identified as requiring a specific allowance, have a 
greater risk of default than when originally granted. This takes 
into consideration factors such as any deterioration in industry, 
technological obsolescence, as well as identified structural 
weaknesses or deterioration in cash flows.

Make Good Provisions

A provision has been made for the present value of anticipated 
costs of future restoration of leased Branch premises. The 
provision includes future cost estimates associated with 
dismantling furniture and fittings. The calculation of this 
provision requires assumptions which may result in future actual 
expenditure differing from the amounts currently provided. 
The provision recognised for each Branch is periodically reviewed 
and updated based on the facts and circumstances available at 
the time. Changes to the estimated future costs for Branches are 
recognised in the balance sheet by adjusting both the expense or 
asset (if applicable) and provision.

(v) Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities

A financial asset is derecognised where:

•	 the	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	have	expired,	or

•	 the	Credit	Union	has	transferred	its	rights	to	receive	cash	
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third 
party unless under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement, and

•	 either	(a)	the	Credit	Union	has	transferred	substantially	all	
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Credit Union has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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When the Credit Union has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the 
Credit Union’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing 
involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the 
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying 
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration 
that the Credit Union could be required to repay.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the 
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Where an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification 
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability, and the 
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in 
profit or loss.

(w) Impairment of Loans and Advances

The Credit Union assesses at each balance date whether there is 
any objective evidence that a loan and advance to a Member, or a 
group of loans and advances, is impaired. A loan and advance, or 
a group of loans and advances, is deemed to be impaired if, and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of 
one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or 
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
loans and advances or group of loans and advances that can 
be reliably estimated. Objective evidence of impairment may 
include indications that the borrower, or a group of borrowers 
is experiencing financial difficulty, default or delinquency in 
interest or principal payments, the probability that they will 
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where 
observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in 
the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or 
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment 
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after 
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the 
allowance account. 

Bad debts are written off when identified. Identification may 
include: bankruptcy, clearout or unlikelihood of recovery. If a 
provision for impairment has been recognised in relation to a 
loan, write offs for bad debts are made against the provision. 
If no provision for impairment has previously been recognised, 
write offs for bad debts are recognised as expenses in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(x) Renegotiated Loans and Advances

Where possible, the Credit Union seeks to restructure loans rather 
than to take possession of collateral. This may involve extending 
the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan 
conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated, the loan 
is no longer considered past due. Management continuously 
reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and 
that future payments are likely to occur. The loans continue to 
be subject to an individual or collective impairment assessment, 
calculated using the loan’s original effective interest rate.

General Reserve for Credit Losses

The general reserve for credit losses is based on 0.5% of those 
Risk Weighted Assets for which a specific provision has not 
already been raised. Risk Weighted Assets are calculated using the 
formula of APRA’s Prudential Standards. 

(u) Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates, 
and Assumptions

In the process of applying the Credit Union’s accounting 
policies, management has used its judgement and made 
estimates in determining the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. The most significant use of judgements and estimates 
are as follows: 

Classification of and Valuation of Investments

The Credit Union has decided to classify investments in unlisted 
securities as available-for-sale investments and movements in 
fair value are recognised directly in equity. The fair values of 
unlisted securities not traded in an active market are recorded at 
historical cost. 

Recovery of Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary 
differences as management considers that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available to utilise those 
temporary differences. 

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

The Credit Union assesses impairment of all assets at each 
reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Credit 
Union and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. 
These include product performance, technology, economic and 
political environments and future product expectations. If an 
impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is determined. This involves value in use calculations, which 
incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions.

Long Service Leave Provision

Liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made 
in respect of all employees at balance date. In determining the 
present value of the liability, attrition rates and pay increases 
through promotion and inflation have been taken into account.

Estimation of Useful Lives of Assets

The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on 
historical experience as well as manufacturers’ warranties (for 
plant and equipment), lease terms (for leased equipment). In 
addition, the condition of the assets is assessed at least once 
per year and considered against the remaining useful life. 

Adjustments to useful life are made when considered necessary. 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based 
on historical experience and other factors, including reasonable 
expectations of future events. Management believes the estimates 
used in preparing the financial report are reasonable. Actual 
results in the future may differ from those reported. 

Impairment of Loans and Advances

The Credit Union reviews its problem loans at each reporting 
date to assess whether an allowance for impairment should 
be recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
In particular, judgement by management is required in the 
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when 
determining the level of allowance required. Such estimates 
are based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual 
results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance.

In addition to specific allowances against individually significant 
loans and advances, the Credit Union also makes a collective 
impairment allowance against exposures, which, although not 
specifically identified as requiring a specific allowance, have a 
greater risk of default than when originally granted. This takes 
into consideration factors such as any deterioration in industry, 
technological obsolescence, as well as identified structural 
weaknesses or deterioration in cash flows.

Make Good Provisions

A provision has been made for the present value of anticipated 
costs of future restoration of leased Branch premises. The 
provision includes future cost estimates associated with 
dismantling furniture and fittings. The calculation of this 
provision requires assumptions which may result in future actual 
expenditure differing from the amounts currently provided. 
The provision recognised for each Branch is periodically reviewed 
and updated based on the facts and circumstances available at 
the time. Changes to the estimated future costs for Branches are 
recognised in the balance sheet by adjusting both the expense or 
asset (if applicable) and provision.

(v) Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities

A financial asset is derecognised where:

•	 the	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	have	expired,	or

•	 the	Credit	Union	has	transferred	its	rights	to	receive	cash	
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third 
party unless under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement, and

•	 either	(a)	the	Credit	Union	has	transferred	substantially	all	
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Credit Union has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Other expenses

Depreciation 

Plant and equipment 336 347 336 347

Leasehold improvements 423 451 423 451

Computer system 505 250 505 250

1,264 1,048 1,264 1,048

General and administration costs

Personnel – salaries and wages 4,809 4,889 4,809 4,889

Personnel – superannuation 427 455 427 455

Insurance, compliance and legal 215 293 215 293

Occupancy 297 281 297 281

Marketing 363 333 363 333

Printing, stationery and production 116 121 116 121

Cash delivery charges 386 390 386 390

Communications 279 323 279 323

Maintenance and support 509 575 509 575

Members’ transaction related costs 1,474 1,813 1,474 1,813

Rental – operating leases 1,319 1,280 1,319 1,280

Other 1,640 1,588 1,640 1,588

11,834 12,341 11,834 12,341

Other provisions 

Provision for employee benefits 68 82 68 82

Other expenses 13,166 13,471 13,166 13,471

3. INTEREST REVENUE AND INTEREST EXPENSE

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Interest revenue

Cash and cash equivalents 198 282 198 282

Receivables due from other financial institutions 1,277 2,744 1,277 2,744

Loans and advances  15,824 16,277 15,824 16,277

17,299 19,303 17,299 19,303

Interest expense

Member deposits 6,806 9,931 6,806 9,931

Borrowings 25 60 25 60

6,831 9,991 6,831 9,991

Interest rate swaps –  change in fair value (757) 1,210 (757) 1,210

 –  interest expense 823 642 823 642

6,897 11,843 6,897 11,843

Net interest income 10,402 7,460 10,402 7,460

4. OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES

Other operating income

Fees and commissions income

Loan fee income 608 669 608 669

Other fee income 2,307 2,843 2,307 2,843

Insurance commissions 263 175 263 175

Other commissions 209 164 209 164

3,387 3,851 3,387 3,851

Other operating revenue

Bad debts recovered 36 47 36 47

Other 208 394 208 394

244 441 244 441

Other operating income

Net gain from sale of plant and equipment 72 4 72 4

72 4 72 4

Other operating income 3,703 4,296 3,703 4,296
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Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Other expenses

Depreciation 

Plant and equipment 336 347 336 347

Leasehold improvements 423 451 423 451

Computer system 505 250 505 250

1,264 1,048 1,264 1,048

General and administration costs

Personnel – salaries and wages 4,809 4,889 4,809 4,889

Personnel – superannuation 427 455 427 455

Insurance, compliance and legal 215 293 215 293

Occupancy 297 281 297 281

Marketing 363 333 363 333

Printing, stationery and production 116 121 116 121

Cash delivery charges 386 390 386 390

Communications 279 323 279 323

Maintenance and support 509 575 509 575

Members’ transaction related costs 1,474 1,813 1,474 1,813

Rental – operating leases 1,319 1,280 1,319 1,280

Other 1,640 1,588 1,640 1,588

11,834 12,341 11,834 12,341

Other provisions 

Provision for employee benefits 68 82 68 82

Other expenses 13,166 13,471 13,166 13,471
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5. INCOME TAX (CONT)

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Deferred tax assets

Employee provisions 71 186 71 186

Provision for doubtful debts 78 11 78 11

Other provisions 78 68 78 68

Carried forward tax loss 84 162 84 162

Cash flow hedge recognised directly in equity 36 - 36 -

Swaps at fair value 111 337 111 337

Accrued expenses 119 5 119 5

577 769 577 769

6. CASH AND CASH EqUIVALENTS

Cash on hand and at banks 2,130 5,463 2,130 5,463

Deposits at call 9,677 - 9,677 -

11,807 5,463 11,807 5,463

Cash at bank and deposits at call earn interest at floating rates on a daily basis. These deposits are available within a maximum  
of two working days.

7. RECEIVABLES DUE FROM OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Interest bearing deposits with CUSCAL Ltd (CUSCAL) 27,680 53,457 27,680 53,457

Bank accepted bills of exchange 1,103 1,068 1,103 1,068

Term deposits with banks 3,000 - 3,000 -

Other Credit Union receivables 2 2 2 2

31,785 54,527 31,785 54,527

Maturity analysis

Not longer than 3 months 21,471 53,459 21,471 53,459

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 10,314 1,068 10,314 1,068

31,785 54,527 31,785 54,527

8. ACCRUED RECEIVABLES

Interest receivable 207 263 207 263

5. INCOME TAX
The major components of income tax are:

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Current income tax

Current income tax (expense)/benefit (81) 259 (81) 259

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years - (241) - (241)

Other 6 - 6 -

Deferred income tax

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (68) 355 (68) 355

Income tax (expense)/benefit reported in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

(143) 373 (143) 373

A reconciliation between tax (expense)/benefit and the product of accounting (loss)/profit before tax multiplied by the applicable tax 
rate is as follows:

Accounting profit/(loss) before income tax 477 (1,791) 477 (1,791)

Income tax at 30% (143) 537 (143) 537

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous year - (241) - (241)

Rebatable dividend payments 32 50 32 50

Other non-deductible expenses (32) 27 (32) 27

Income tax reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (143) 373 (143) 373

Amounts recognised directly in equity

Net deferred (expense)/benefit recognised in equity 35 - 35 -

35 - 35 -

Deferred income tax

Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes - 83 - 83

Other receivables 9 9 9 9

9 92 9 92
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5. INCOME TAX (CONT)

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Deferred tax assets
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Provision for doubtful debts 78 11 78 11

Other provisions 78 68 78 68

Carried forward tax loss 84 162 84 162

Cash flow hedge recognised directly in equity 36 - 36 -

Swaps at fair value 111 337 111 337

Accrued expenses 119 5 119 5

577 769 577 769

6. CASH AND CASH EqUIVALENTS

Cash on hand and at banks 2,130 5,463 2,130 5,463

Deposits at call 9,677 - 9,677 -

11,807 5,463 11,807 5,463

Cash at bank and deposits at call earn interest at floating rates on a daily basis. These deposits are available within a maximum  
of two working days.

7. RECEIVABLES DUE FROM OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Interest bearing deposits with CUSCAL Ltd (CUSCAL) 27,680 53,457 27,680 53,457

Bank accepted bills of exchange 1,103 1,068 1,103 1,068

Term deposits with banks 3,000 - 3,000 -

Other Credit Union receivables 2 2 2 2

31,785 54,527 31,785 54,527

Maturity analysis

Not longer than 3 months 21,471 53,459 21,471 53,459

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 10,314 1,068 10,314 1,068

31,785 54,527 31,785 54,527

8. ACCRUED RECEIVABLES

Interest receivable 207 263 207 263

5. INCOME TAX
The major components of income tax are:

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Current income tax

Current income tax (expense)/benefit (81) 259 (81) 259

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years - (241) - (241)

Other 6 - 6 -

Deferred income tax

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (68) 355 (68) 355

Income tax (expense)/benefit reported in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

(143) 373 (143) 373

A reconciliation between tax (expense)/benefit and the product of accounting (loss)/profit before tax multiplied by the applicable tax 
rate is as follows:

Accounting profit/(loss) before income tax 477 (1,791) 477 (1,791)

Income tax at 30% (143) 537 (143) 537

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous year - (241) - (241)

Rebatable dividend payments 32 50 32 50

Other non-deductible expenses (32) 27 (32) 27

Income tax reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (143) 373 (143) 373

Amounts recognised directly in equity

Net deferred (expense)/benefit recognised in equity 35 - 35 -

35 - 35 -

Deferred income tax

Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes - 83 - 83

Other receivables 9 9 9 9

9 92 9 92
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9. LOANS AND ADVANCES (CONT)

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

 (c) Provision for impairment

Specific provision

Opening balance

Overdrafts 14 24 14 24

Other loans 23 26 23 26

Total opening balance 37 50 37 50

Bad debts previously provided for written off during the year

Overdrafts (123) (39) (123) (39)

Other loans (90) (39) (90) (39)

Total bad debts previously provided for written off during the year (213) (78) (213) (78)

Bad and doubtful debts provided for during the year for overdrafts 
and other loans

443 65 443 65

267 37 267 37

Closing balance

Overdrafts 19 14 19 14

Other loans 248 23 248 23

Total closing balance 267 37 267 37

Charge to Statement of Comprehensive Income for impairment 
losses on loans and advances comprises:

Specific provision 443 65 443 65

Items not specifically provided for and charged directly to the 
expense account 

19 11 19 11

Total impairment losses on loans and advances 462 76 462 76

The specific provision for impairment includes the provision required under the Prudential Standards at 30 June 2010,  
and a provision for specifically identified individual loans.

At balance date there were no loans or advances classified as renegotiated.

9. LOANS AND ADVANCES

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Overdrafts 14,816 16,346 14,816 16,346

Mortgage loans 141,056 129,846 141,056 129,846

Other 81,777 67,853 81,777 67,853

Provision for impairment 9 (c) (267) (37) (267) (37)

Net loans and advances 237,382 214,008 237,382 214,008

(a) Maturity analysis 

Overdrafts 14,816 16,346 14,816 16,346

Not longer than 3 months 3,613 3,199 3,613 3,199

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 10,460 10,887 10,460 10,887

Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years 44,413 48,322 44,413 48,322

Longer than 5 years 164,080 135,254 164,080 135,254

Net loans and advances 237,382 214,008 237,382 214,008

(b) Concentration of Risk

The loan portfolio of the Credit Union does not include any loan that represents 10% or more of capital.

There are no loans to Members concentrated to individuals employed in a particular industry.

Loans to Members are concentrated solely in Australia and principally in the Australian Capital Territory and Southern NSW.

Other loan comprises mainly secured and unsecured personal loans.
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9. LOANS AND ADVANCES (CONT)

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

 (c) Provision for impairment

Specific provision

Opening balance

Overdrafts 14 24 14 24

Other loans 23 26 23 26

Total opening balance 37 50 37 50

Bad debts previously provided for written off during the year

Overdrafts (123) (39) (123) (39)

Other loans (90) (39) (90) (39)

Total bad debts previously provided for written off during the year (213) (78) (213) (78)

Bad and doubtful debts provided for during the year for overdrafts 
and other loans

443 65 443 65

267 37 267 37

Closing balance

Overdrafts 19 14 19 14

Other loans 248 23 248 23

Total closing balance 267 37 267 37

Charge to Statement of Comprehensive Income for impairment 
losses on loans and advances comprises:

Specific provision 443 65 443 65

Items not specifically provided for and charged directly to the 
expense account 

19 11 19 11

Total impairment losses on loans and advances 462 76 462 76

The specific provision for impairment includes the provision required under the Prudential Standards at 30 June 2010,  
and a provision for specifically identified individual loans.

At balance date there were no loans or advances classified as renegotiated.

9. LOANS AND ADVANCES

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Overdrafts 14,816 16,346 14,816 16,346

Mortgage loans 141,056 129,846 141,056 129,846

Other 81,777 67,853 81,777 67,853

Provision for impairment 9 (c) (267) (37) (267) (37)

Net loans and advances 237,382 214,008 237,382 214,008

(a) Maturity analysis 

Overdrafts 14,816 16,346 14,816 16,346

Not longer than 3 months 3,613 3,199 3,613 3,199

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 10,460 10,887 10,460 10,887

Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years 44,413 48,322 44,413 48,322

Longer than 5 years 164,080 135,254 164,080 135,254

Net loans and advances 237,382 214,008 237,382 214,008

(b) Concentration of Risk

The loan portfolio of the Credit Union does not include any loan that represents 10% or more of capital.

There are no loans to Members concentrated to individuals employed in a particular industry.

Loans to Members are concentrated solely in Australia and principally in the Australian Capital Territory and Southern NSW.

Other loan comprises mainly secured and unsecured personal loans.
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11. AVAILABLE FOR SALE INVESTMENTS (CONT)

(a) Unlisted shares

No active market exists for equity investments in Transaction Solutions Ltd, CUSCAL, and Credit Union Technology Development Ltd. Their 
fair value cannot be reliably measured, as a result these investments are measured at cost.

The financial reports of the above entities have a net tangible asset backing per shares which exceeds their cost value. Based on the net 
assets of the entities, any fair value determination of these shares is likely to be greater than the cost value, but due to the absence of a 
ready market and restrictions on the ability to transfer the shares, a market value is not able to be determined.

The Credit Union is not intending, nor able to dispose of these shares without a majority of shareholder approval.

(b) Other available for sale investments

No active market exists for investments in Australian Capital Fund Pty Ltd or ACV Investment Trust Number 1 and so their fair value 
cannot be reliably measured. As a result, these investments are measured at cost.

Investment in controlled entity

Investment in controlled entity comprises:

Name Country of incorporation
Percentage of equity interest 
held by the economic entity Value of shares held

2010
%

2009
%

2010
$

2009
$

CUC No 1 Pty Ltd Australia

– ordinary shares 100 100 2 2

10. IMPAIRMENT OF LOANS AND ADVANCES
The policy covering impaired loans and advances is set out in Note 2.

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Impaired loans with specific provision 
for impairment

Balances with specific provisions for impairment 449 67 449 67

Specific provision for impairment (267) (37) (267) (37)

Net impaired loans with specific provision for impairment 182 30 182 30

Impaired loans without specific provision 
for impairment

Balance without specific provision for impairment 302 67 302 67

Net impaired loans 484 97 484 97

11. AVAILABLE FOR SALE INVESTMENTS

Shares in Transaction Solutions Ltd – at cost 294 410 294 410

Shares in CUSCAL – at cost 884 884 884 884

Shares in Credit Union Technology Development Ltd 
– at cost

2 2 2 2

Investment in Australian Capital Fund Pty Ltd  
– at cost

126 126 - -

Investment in ACV Investment Trust Number 1 
– at cost

74 74 - -

29 (d) 1,380 1,496 1,180 1,296
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11. AVAILABLE FOR SALE INVESTMENTS (CONT)

(a) Unlisted shares

No active market exists for equity investments in Transaction Solutions Ltd, CUSCAL, and Credit Union Technology Development Ltd. Their 
fair value cannot be reliably measured, as a result these investments are measured at cost.

The financial reports of the above entities have a net tangible asset backing per shares which exceeds their cost value. Based on the net 
assets of the entities, any fair value determination of these shares is likely to be greater than the cost value, but due to the absence of a 
ready market and restrictions on the ability to transfer the shares, a market value is not able to be determined.

The Credit Union is not intending, nor able to dispose of these shares without a majority of shareholder approval.

(b) Other available for sale investments

No active market exists for investments in Australian Capital Fund Pty Ltd or ACV Investment Trust Number 1 and so their fair value 
cannot be reliably measured. As a result, these investments are measured at cost.

Investment in controlled entity

Investment in controlled entity comprises:

Name Country of incorporation
Percentage of equity interest 
held by the economic entity Value of shares held

2010
%

2009
%

2010
$

2009
$

CUC No 1 Pty Ltd Australia

– ordinary shares 100 100 2 2

10. IMPAIRMENT OF LOANS AND ADVANCES
The policy covering impaired loans and advances is set out in Note 2.

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Impaired loans with specific provision 
for impairment

Balances with specific provisions for impairment 449 67 449 67

Specific provision for impairment (267) (37) (267) (37)

Net impaired loans with specific provision for impairment 182 30 182 30

Impaired loans without specific provision 
for impairment

Balance without specific provision for impairment 302 67 302 67

Net impaired loans 484 97 484 97

11. AVAILABLE FOR SALE INVESTMENTS

Shares in Transaction Solutions Ltd – at cost 294 410 294 410

Shares in CUSCAL – at cost 884 884 884 884

Shares in Credit Union Technology Development Ltd 
– at cost

2 2 2 2

Investment in Australian Capital Fund Pty Ltd  
– at cost

126 126 - -

Investment in ACV Investment Trust Number 1 
– at cost

74 74 - -

29 (d) 1,380 1,496 1,180 1,296
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13. INTANGIBLES

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Computer software at cost 2,841 2,667 2,841 2,667

Provision for amortisation (1,325) (849) (1,325) (849)

Total written down value 1,516 1,818 1,516 1,818

Reconciliation of carrying amount of  
intangibles for the financial year.

Carrying amount at beginning of year 1,818 696 1,818 696

Additions 203 1,259 203 1,259

Transfer from plant and equipment - 113 - 113

Amortisation (505) (250) (505) (250)

Carrying amount at end of year 1,516 1,818 1,516 1,818

14. OTHER ASSETS

Prepayments 117 124 117 124

Other 355 143 355 143

472 267 472 267

15. PAYABLE TO OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Other Credit Union payables 26 17 26 17

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Leasehold improvements

At cost 2,482 2,459 2,482 2,459

Provision for depreciation (1,426) (1,367) (1,426) (1,367)

Total leasehold improvements 1,056 1,092 1,056 1,092

Plant and equipment

At cost 1,225 1,719 1,225 1,719

Provision for depreciation (759) (1,000) (759) (1,000)

Total plant and equipment 466 719 466 719

Total written down value 1,522 1,811 1,522 1,811

Reconciliation of carrying amount of property, 
plant and equipment for the financial year.

Leasehold improvements

Carrying amount at beginning of year 1,092 1,080 1,092 1,080

Additions 387 463 367 463

Depreciation (423) (451) (423) (451)

Carrying amount at end of year 1,056 1,092 1,056 1,092

Plant and equipment

Carrying amount at beginning of year 719 925 719 925

Additions 268 259 268 259

Disposals (185) (5) (185) (5)

Transfer to intangibles - (113) - (113)

Depreciation (336) (347) (336) (347)

Carrying amount at end of year 466 719 466 719

Property, plant and equipment are subject to:

a) fixed and floating charge to secure credit facilities provided by CUSCAL.

b) a floating charge executed under the Emergency Liquidity Support System to secure an advance that may be made to the Credit Union 
under the scheme.
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13. INTANGIBLES

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Computer software at cost 2,841 2,667 2,841 2,667

Provision for amortisation (1,325) (849) (1,325) (849)

Total written down value 1,516 1,818 1,516 1,818

Reconciliation of carrying amount of  
intangibles for the financial year.

Carrying amount at beginning of year 1,818 696 1,818 696

Additions 203 1,259 203 1,259

Transfer from plant and equipment - 113 - 113

Amortisation (505) (250) (505) (250)

Carrying amount at end of year 1,516 1,818 1,516 1,818

14. OTHER ASSETS

Prepayments 117 124 117 124

Other 355 143 355 143

472 267 472 267

15. PAYABLE TO OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Other Credit Union payables 26 17 26 17

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Leasehold improvements

At cost 2,482 2,459 2,482 2,459

Provision for depreciation (1,426) (1,367) (1,426) (1,367)

Total leasehold improvements 1,056 1,092 1,056 1,092

Plant and equipment

At cost 1,225 1,719 1,225 1,719

Provision for depreciation (759) (1,000) (759) (1,000)

Total plant and equipment 466 719 466 719

Total written down value 1,522 1,811 1,522 1,811

Reconciliation of carrying amount of property, 
plant and equipment for the financial year.

Leasehold improvements

Carrying amount at beginning of year 1,092 1,080 1,092 1,080

Additions 387 463 367 463

Depreciation (423) (451) (423) (451)

Carrying amount at end of year 1,056 1,092 1,056 1,092

Plant and equipment

Carrying amount at beginning of year 719 925 719 925

Additions 268 259 268 259

Disposals (185) (5) (185) (5)

Transfer to intangibles - (113) - (113)

Depreciation (336) (347) (336) (347)

Carrying amount at end of year 466 719 466 719

Property, plant and equipment are subject to:

a) fixed and floating charge to secure credit facilities provided by CUSCAL.

b) a floating charge executed under the Emergency Liquidity Support System to secure an advance that may be made to the Credit Union 
under the scheme.
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16. DEPOSITS AND BORROWINGS

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Call deposits 132,457 137,870 132,457 137,870

Term deposits 129,873 115,773 129,873 115,773

262,330 253,643 262,330 253,643

Borrowings 417 2,690 417 2,690

262,747 256,333 262,747 256,333

(a) Deposits

Maturity analysis

At call 132,457 137,870 132,457 137,870

Not longer than 3 months 66,183 71,452 66,183 71,452

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 57,873 40,281 57,873 40,281

Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years 5,817 4,040 5,817 4,040

262,330 253,643 262,330 253,643

Included in call deposits above is an amount of $314,123 (2009: $312,659) representing Member shares. These shares are withdrawable 
by Members on resignation from the Credit Union.

Concentration of deposits

The Credit Union’s deposit portfolio does not include any deposit that represents 10% or more of total liabilities.

Member deposits were predominantly received from individuals employed in Australia. There are no significant groups of 
Members concentrated in any particular industry.

(b) Borrowings

Unsecured

Bank overdrafts – other financial institution 417 - 417 -

Secured

Overdraft – CUSCAL - 2,690 - 2,690

Total borrowings 417 2,690 417 2,690

Credit facilities provided by CUSCAL are secured by a fixed 
and floating charge over all of the assets and undertakings 
of the Credit Union.

Maturity analysis

Not longer than 3 months 417 2,690 417 2,690

417 2,690 417 2,690
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17. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Interest rate swaps – at fair value 487 1,125 487 1,125

487 1,125 487 1,125

(a)  Instruments used by the Credit Union

Interest rate swaps are used by the Credit Union to manage interest rate risk that arises from re-pricing gaps between assets and liabilities 
and does not enter into these swaps for speculative purposes. 

(b)  Cash flow hedges

The interest rate swaps require settlement of net interest receivable or payable between 90 and 180 days. The settlement dates coincide 
with the dates on which interest is payable on the underlying liability. All swaps are matched directly against the appropriate Member 
deposits and interest expense and as such are considered highly effective. They are settled on a net basis. The swaps are measured at fair 
value and all gains and losses attributable to the hedged risk are taken directly to equity and re-classified into profit or loss when the 
interest expense is recognised.

Movement in interest rate swaps contract cash flow hedge reserve

Opening balance - - - -

Charged to other comprehensive income (84) - (84) -

Closing balance (84) - (84) -

Cash flow hedging ineffectiveness recognised immediately 
in profit or loss

- - - -

18. PAYABLES

Trade creditors 206 219 206 219

Employee benefits

Annual Leave 355 399 355 399

Accrued salaries, wages and on costs 224 138 224 138

Accrued interest payable 2,423 2,409 2,423 2,409

Other creditors 266 110 266 110

3,474 3,275 3,474 3,275

Due to the short-term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.
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16. DEPOSITS AND BORROWINGS

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Call deposits 132,457 137,870 132,457 137,870

Term deposits 129,873 115,773 129,873 115,773

262,330 253,643 262,330 253,643

Borrowings 417 2,690 417 2,690

262,747 256,333 262,747 256,333

(a) Deposits

Maturity analysis

At call 132,457 137,870 132,457 137,870

Not longer than 3 months 66,183 71,452 66,183 71,452

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 57,873 40,281 57,873 40,281

Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years 5,817 4,040 5,817 4,040

262,330 253,643 262,330 253,643

Included in call deposits above is an amount of $314,123 (2009: $312,659) representing Member shares. These shares are withdrawable 
by Members on resignation from the Credit Union.

Concentration of deposits

The Credit Union’s deposit portfolio does not include any deposit that represents 10% or more of total liabilities.

Member deposits were predominantly received from individuals employed in Australia. There are no significant groups of 
Members concentrated in any particular industry.

(b) Borrowings

Unsecured

Bank overdrafts – other financial institution 417 - 417 -

Secured

Overdraft – CUSCAL - 2,690 - 2,690

Total borrowings 417 2,690 417 2,690

Credit facilities provided by CUSCAL are secured by a fixed 
and floating charge over all of the assets and undertakings 
of the Credit Union.

Maturity analysis

Not longer than 3 months 417 2,690 417 2,690

417 2,690 417 2,690
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17. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Interest rate swaps – at fair value 487 1,125 487 1,125

487 1,125 487 1,125

(a)  Instruments used by the Credit Union

Interest rate swaps are used by the Credit Union to manage interest rate risk that arises from re-pricing gaps between assets and liabilities 
and does not enter into these swaps for speculative purposes. 

(b)  Cash flow hedges

The interest rate swaps require settlement of net interest receivable or payable between 90 and 180 days. The settlement dates coincide 
with the dates on which interest is payable on the underlying liability. All swaps are matched directly against the appropriate Member 
deposits and interest expense and as such are considered highly effective. They are settled on a net basis. The swaps are measured at fair 
value and all gains and losses attributable to the hedged risk are taken directly to equity and re-classified into profit or loss when the 
interest expense is recognised.

Movement in interest rate swaps contract cash flow hedge reserve

Opening balance - - - -

Charged to other comprehensive income (84) - (84) -

Closing balance (84) - (84) -

Cash flow hedging ineffectiveness recognised immediately 
in profit or loss

- - - -

18. PAYABLES

Trade creditors 206 219 206 219

Employee benefits

Annual Leave 355 399 355 399

Accrued salaries, wages and on costs 224 138 224 138

Accrued interest payable 2,423 2,409 2,423 2,409

Other creditors 266 110 266 110

3,474 3,275 3,474 3,275

Due to the short-term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.
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20. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONT)

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

(b) Reconciliation of cash

Cash balance comprises:

Cash 2,130 5,463 2,130 5,463

Other short-term liquid assets 9,677 - 9,677 -

Bank overdraft (417) (2,690) (417) (2,690)

Closing cash balance 11,390 2,773 11,390 2,773

(c) Cash flows presented on a net basis

Cash flows arising from the following activities are presented on a net basis in the Statement of Cash Flows:

(i) Member deposits to and withdrawals from deposit accounts

(ii) Borrowings and repayments on loans to Members, and

(iii) Sales and purchases of investments.

(d) Bank overdraft and loan facilities

       The Credit Union has an overdraft facility available to the extent of $4,000,000 and pre-approved loan facility of $6,000,000. 
Both credit facilities are provided by CUSCAL and are secured by a fixed and floating charge over the assets and undertakings  
of the Credit Union. At balance date, both the bank overdraft and the pre-approved loan facility were unused (2009: $2,039,342, 
leaving $1,960,658 available).

21. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

Lease expenditure commitments

Operating leases (non-cancellable)

not later than 1 year 1,145 1,091 1,145 1,091

later than 1 and not later than 5 years 2,986 3,062 2,986 3,062

later than 5 years 917 1,349 917 1,349

Aggregate lease expenditure contracted for at balance date 5,048 5,502 5,048 5,502

Non-cancellable operating leases are for Branch and Head Office premises with lease terms for up to 10 years. The leases have an 
allowance for CPI increments and options for renewal range from 1 to 10 years.

19. PROVISIONS

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Employee benefits

Long service leave 237 196 237 196

Make good on leased premises 261 227 261 227

498 423 498 423

Provision for make good

Carrying amount at beginning of year 227 198 227 198

Arising during the year 62 65 62 65

Unused amounts reversed (38) (74) (38) (74)

Discount rate adjustments 10 38 10 38

Carrying amount at end of year 261 227 261 227

In accordance with Branch and ATM lease agreements the Credit Union must restore the leased premises to their original condition 
before the expiry of the lease term.

During the year, $38,000 was reversed for costs that were not incurred on the renewal of Branch leases and $62,000 was recognised in 
respect of the new leases.

Because of the long-term nature of the liability, the uncertainty in estimating the provision and the costs that will ultimately be 
incurred, the provision has been discounted using bank bill swap rates that match as closely as possible the remaining term of each lease 
agreement.

20. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of the operating profit/(loss) after  
tax to the net cash flows from operations

(Loss)/profit from ordinary activities after tax 334 (1,418) 334 (1,418)

Charge for bad and doubtful debts 462 76 462 76

Depreciation and amortisation 1,264 1,048 1,264 1,048

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of plant and equipment (72) (4) (72) (4)

Changes in assets and liabilities

Interest receivable 56 653 56 653

Other receivables (205) 106 (205) 106

Provisions and payables 184 (1,106) 184 (1,106)

Other assets and liabilities (514) 1,220 (514) 1,220

Net cash flows from operating activities 1,509 575 1,509 575
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20. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONT)

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

(b) Reconciliation of cash
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Bank overdraft (417) (2,690) (417) (2,690)
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(ii) Borrowings and repayments on loans to Members, and

(iii) Sales and purchases of investments.

(d) Bank overdraft and loan facilities

       The Credit Union has an overdraft facility available to the extent of $4,000,000 and pre-approved loan facility of $6,000,000. 
Both credit facilities are provided by CUSCAL and are secured by a fixed and floating charge over the assets and undertakings  
of the Credit Union. At balance date, both the bank overdraft and the pre-approved loan facility were unused (2009: $2,039,342, 
leaving $1,960,658 available).

21. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

Lease expenditure commitments

Operating leases (non-cancellable)

not later than 1 year 1,145 1,091 1,145 1,091

later than 1 and not later than 5 years 2,986 3,062 2,986 3,062

later than 5 years 917 1,349 917 1,349

Aggregate lease expenditure contracted for at balance date 5,048 5,502 5,048 5,502

Non-cancellable operating leases are for Branch and Head Office premises with lease terms for up to 10 years. The leases have an 
allowance for CPI increments and options for renewal range from 1 to 10 years.

19. PROVISIONS

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Employee benefits

Long service leave 237 196 237 196

Make good on leased premises 261 227 261 227

498 423 498 423

Provision for make good

Carrying amount at beginning of year 227 198 227 198

Arising during the year 62 65 62 65

Unused amounts reversed (38) (74) (38) (74)

Discount rate adjustments 10 38 10 38

Carrying amount at end of year 261 227 261 227

In accordance with Branch and ATM lease agreements the Credit Union must restore the leased premises to their original condition 
before the expiry of the lease term.

During the year, $38,000 was reversed for costs that were not incurred on the renewal of Branch leases and $62,000 was recognised in 
respect of the new leases.

Because of the long-term nature of the liability, the uncertainty in estimating the provision and the costs that will ultimately be 
incurred, the provision has been discounted using bank bill swap rates that match as closely as possible the remaining term of each lease 
agreement.

20. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of the operating profit/(loss) after  
tax to the net cash flows from operations

(Loss)/profit from ordinary activities after tax 334 (1,418) 334 (1,418)

Charge for bad and doubtful debts 462 76 462 76

Depreciation and amortisation 1,264 1,048 1,264 1,048

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of plant and equipment (72) (4) (72) (4)

Changes in assets and liabilities

Interest receivable 56 653 56 653

Other receivables (205) 106 (205) 106

Provisions and payables 184 (1,106) 184 (1,106)

Other assets and liabilities (514) 1,220 (514) 1,220

Net cash flows from operating activities 1,509 575 1,509 575
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25. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

(a) Details of key management personnel

The Directors of the Credit Union during the year were:

Mr E M Adriaanse
Mr J C Clarke (Chair)
Professor J Corbett
Mr I Davis
Ms H Nash
Mr W C Phillips
Mrs D Robinson, and
Mr I Slavich.

The Executives of the Credit Union during the year were:

Mr P L Carlin Chief Executive
Mr M D Smith Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer
Ms A Storti General Manager - Retail, and
Mr T Brown Head of Risk and Compliance.

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

            2010
               $

            2009
        $

           2010
               $

           2009
               $

(b) Key management personnel compensation 

Short-term employee benefits 898,584 895,426 898,584 895,426

Post-employment benefits 119,296 154,578 119,296 154,578

1,017,880 1,050,004 1,017,880 1,050,004

(c) Loans to key management personnel

Loans have been made to key management personnel and spouses on terms and conditions no more favourable than those available on 
similar transactions to Members of the Credit Union.

The terms and conditions in respect of all loans to key management personnel have not been breached.

Aggregate amount outstanding at balance date 381,695 217,340 381,695 217,340

Aggregate amount of repayments received during 
the financial year

112,822 19,090 112,822 19,090

Key management personnel concerned:

Mr W C Phillips, Mr I Davis, Mr T Brown.

Aggregate amount of approved overdraft facilities 45,000 16,000 45,000 16,000

Aggregate amount drawn against overdraft facilities 6,078 13,212 6,078 13,212

Key management personnel concerned:

Mr J C Clarke and Mr P L Carlin.

22. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Employee benefits 

The aggregate employee benefits liability is  
comprised of: 

Accrued wages, annual leave, salaries and on costs  
(recognised as part of payables at Note 18)

579 537 579 537

Provisions for long service 19 237 196 237 196

Superannuation commitments 

All employees are entitled to varying levels of benefits on retirement, disability or death. Employees contribute to the plans at 
various percentages of their wages and salaries. The Credit Union also contributes to the plans, at the rates between 9% and  
13.5% of employees’ salaries. Contributions by the economic entity of up to 9% of employees’ wages and salaries are legally 
enforceable in Australia.

Number of employees

The number of full-time equivalent employees at the end of the year was 75 (2009:72).

23. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CREDIT COMMITMENTS

Credit related commitments

Binding commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to Members as long as there is no violation of any condition established in 
the contract. Since some of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not 
necessarily represent future cash requirements.

Credit limits undrawn 14,286 14,400 14,286 14,400

Approved but undrawn loans 1,429 1,828 1,429 1,828

15,715 16,228 15,715 16,228

The Credit Union has issued a floating charge over all assets of the Credit Union. This has been executed under the Emergency Liquidity 
Support System to secure any advances that may be made to the Credit Union under the Scheme.

As at 30th June 2010 there were no contingent liabilities.

24. SUBSEqUENT EVENTS
There has been no transaction or event of a material or unusual nature likely to affect the operation of the Credit Union,  
the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Credit Union.
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25. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

(a) Details of key management personnel

The Directors of the Credit Union during the year were:

Mr E M Adriaanse
Mr J C Clarke (Chair)
Professor J Corbett
Mr I Davis
Ms H Nash
Mr W C Phillips
Mrs D Robinson, and
Mr I Slavich.

The Executives of the Credit Union during the year were:

Mr P L Carlin Chief Executive
Mr M D Smith Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer
Ms A Storti General Manager - Retail, and
Mr T Brown Head of Risk and Compliance.

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

            2010
               $

            2009
        $

           2010
               $

           2009
               $

(b) Key management personnel compensation 

Short-term employee benefits 898,584 895,426 898,584 895,426

Post-employment benefits 119,296 154,578 119,296 154,578

1,017,880 1,050,004 1,017,880 1,050,004

(c) Loans to key management personnel

Loans have been made to key management personnel and spouses on terms and conditions no more favourable than those available on 
similar transactions to Members of the Credit Union.

The terms and conditions in respect of all loans to key management personnel have not been breached.

Aggregate amount outstanding at balance date 381,695 217,340 381,695 217,340

Aggregate amount of repayments received during 
the financial year

112,822 19,090 112,822 19,090

Key management personnel concerned:

Mr W C Phillips, Mr I Davis, Mr T Brown.

Aggregate amount of approved overdraft facilities 45,000 16,000 45,000 16,000

Aggregate amount drawn against overdraft facilities 6,078 13,212 6,078 13,212

Key management personnel concerned:

Mr J C Clarke and Mr P L Carlin.

22. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Employee benefits 

The aggregate employee benefits liability is  
comprised of: 

Accrued wages, annual leave, salaries and on costs  
(recognised as part of payables at Note 18)

579 537 579 537

Provisions for long service 19 237 196 237 196

Superannuation commitments 

All employees are entitled to varying levels of benefits on retirement, disability or death. Employees contribute to the plans at 
various percentages of their wages and salaries. The Credit Union also contributes to the plans, at the rates between 9% and  
13.5% of employees’ salaries. Contributions by the economic entity of up to 9% of employees’ wages and salaries are legally 
enforceable in Australia.

Number of employees

The number of full-time equivalent employees at the end of the year was 75 (2009:72).

23. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CREDIT COMMITMENTS

Credit related commitments

Binding commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to Members as long as there is no violation of any condition established in 
the contract. Since some of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not 
necessarily represent future cash requirements.

Credit limits undrawn 14,286 14,400 14,286 14,400

Approved but undrawn loans 1,429 1,828 1,429 1,828

15,715 16,228 15,715 16,228

The Credit Union has issued a floating charge over all assets of the Credit Union. This has been executed under the Emergency Liquidity 
Support System to secure any advances that may be made to the Credit Union under the Scheme.

As at 30th June 2010 there were no contingent liabilities.

24. SUBSEqUENT EVENTS
There has been no transaction or event of a material or unusual nature likely to affect the operation of the Credit Union,  
the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Credit Union.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rate will affect future cash flows or the fair value of financial assets 
and liabilities.

The Board of the Credit Union has in place a market risk management policy which sets limits on the exposure to interest rate risk. The 
Credit Union actively manages the exposure through balance sheet techniques and may use derivative instruments such as interest rate 
swaps if it is likely that policy limits would be exceeded.

The Credit Union enters into interest rate swap agreements for the sole purpose of managing interest rate exposures on the balance 
sheet and not for trading purposes.

At balance date, the Credit Union had the following mix of financial assets and liabilities exposed to Australian variable interest rate risk 
that are not designated in cash flow hedges:

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 9,677 - 9,677 -

Receivables due from other financial institutions - - - -

Loans and advances 173,921 161,851 173,921 161,851

183,598 161,851 183,598 161,851

Financial liabilities

Deposits and borrowings 132,874 140,560 132,874 140,560

132,874 140,560 132,874 140,560

Net exposure 50,724 21,291 50,724 21,291

The Credit Union employs techniques such as gap analysis and sensitivity analysis to determine its exposure to interest rate risk. Sensitivity 
analysis is conducted on a quarterly basis using a 1% shift in the yield curve to determine the potential change in the market value of 
equity. The Board of the Credit Union has set limits on the exposure expressed as a percentage of capital. For market risk sensitivity 
analysis the Credit Union uses the APRA Prudential Standards definition of capital.

When conducting the analysis it is assumed that call deposits reprice daily. A negative figure indicates a decrease in the market value of 
equity, a positive value indicates an increase.

The following sensitivity analysis is based on interest rate risk exposures in existence as at reporting date:

2010 2009

As % of capital As % of capital

Market value of equity – Sensitivity to a 1% fall in interest rates 4.53 1.18

$’000 $’000

Profit and loss – Sensitivity to a 1% fall in interest rates (779) (239)

26. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$

2009
$

2010
$

2009
$

Amounts received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young for:

an audit of the financial statements of the entity and any 
other entity in the consolidated entity

–  current year 70,000 86,700 70,000 86,700

tax services in relation to the entity 5,865 15,379 5,865 15,379

advisory services in relation to a proposed securitisation 
transaction.

100,000 - 100,000 -

175,865 102,079 175,865 102,079

27. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY

The Credit Union has an economic dependency on:

CUSCAL, which supplies the Credit Union rights to Visa Card in Australia and provides services in the form of settlement with bankers 
for ATM and Visa Card transactions, and the production of Visa and rediCARDs for its Members. It also provides treasury and money 
market facilities to the Credit Union.

First Data Corporation Ltd, which operates the switching computer used to link rediCARDs operated through rediATMs and other 
ATM suppliers to the Credit Union’s computer system.

Transaction Solutions Ltd, which operates the computer facility on behalf of the Credit Union in conjunction with other  
Credit Unions.

Ultradata Australia Pty Ltd, which provides core-banking software to the Credit Union for the processing of all Member accounts and 
related activities.

28. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
See Note 25 (c) for disclosure on loans to Directors.

Shareholding

Each Director holds one $10 redeemable preference share in the Credit Union.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Interest rate risk 
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The Board of the Credit Union has in place a market risk management policy which sets limits on the exposure to interest rate risk. The 
Credit Union actively manages the exposure through balance sheet techniques and may use derivative instruments such as interest rate 
swaps if it is likely that policy limits would be exceeded.

The Credit Union enters into interest rate swap agreements for the sole purpose of managing interest rate exposures on the balance 
sheet and not for trading purposes.

At balance date, the Credit Union had the following mix of financial assets and liabilities exposed to Australian variable interest rate risk 
that are not designated in cash flow hedges:

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Financial assets 
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Receivables due from other financial institutions - - - -

Loans and advances 173,921 161,851 173,921 161,851
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Financial liabilities

Deposits and borrowings 132,874 140,560 132,874 140,560

132,874 140,560 132,874 140,560

Net exposure 50,724 21,291 50,724 21,291
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analysis is conducted on a quarterly basis using a 1% shift in the yield curve to determine the potential change in the market value of 
equity. The Board of the Credit Union has set limits on the exposure expressed as a percentage of capital. For market risk sensitivity 
analysis the Credit Union uses the APRA Prudential Standards definition of capital.

When conducting the analysis it is assumed that call deposits reprice daily. A negative figure indicates a decrease in the market value of 
equity, a positive value indicates an increase.

The following sensitivity analysis is based on interest rate risk exposures in existence as at reporting date:

2010 2009

As % of capital As % of capital

Market value of equity – Sensitivity to a 1% fall in interest rates 4.53 1.18

$’000 $’000

Profit and loss – Sensitivity to a 1% fall in interest rates (779) (239)

26. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010
$

2009
$

2010
$

2009
$

Amounts received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young for:

an audit of the financial statements of the entity and any 
other entity in the consolidated entity

–  current year 70,000 86,700 70,000 86,700

tax services in relation to the entity 5,865 15,379 5,865 15,379

advisory services in relation to a proposed securitisation 
transaction.

100,000 - 100,000 -

175,865 102,079 175,865 102,079

27. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY

The Credit Union has an economic dependency on:

CUSCAL, which supplies the Credit Union rights to Visa Card in Australia and provides services in the form of settlement with bankers 
for ATM and Visa Card transactions, and the production of Visa and rediCARDs for its Members. It also provides treasury and money 
market facilities to the Credit Union.

First Data Corporation Ltd, which operates the switching computer used to link rediCARDs operated through rediATMs and other 
ATM suppliers to the Credit Union’s computer system.

Transaction Solutions Ltd, which operates the computer facility on behalf of the Credit Union in conjunction with other  
Credit Unions.

Ultradata Australia Pty Ltd, which provides core-banking software to the Credit Union for the processing of all Member accounts and 
related activities.

28. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
See Note 25 (c) for disclosure on loans to Directors.

Shareholding

Each Director holds one $10 redeemable preference share in the Credit Union.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT)

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Credit Union will not be able to meet its payment obligations when they fall due.

APRA Prudential Standards require the Credit Union to hold a minimum of 9% of its liabilities in specified high quality liquid assets. 
The Credit Union’s internal policy requires a minimum ratio well above the 9% limit specified in the Prudential Standards. High quality 
liquid assets comprise cash, bank bills and certificates of deposit rated at investment grade and must be convertible into cash within 
2 business days.

The Credit Union does not take a position on interest rate movements but places high quality liquid investments to match the maturity 
structure of its liabilities.

The following liquidity risk disclosures reflect all contractually fixed pay-offs, repayments and interest resulting from recognised financial 
liabilities and financial guarantees as of 30 June 2010. For the other obligations the respective undiscounted cash flows for the respective 
upcoming fiscal years are presented. The timing of cash flows for liabilities is based on the contractual terms of the underlying contract.

However, where the counterparty has a choice of when the amount is paid, the liability is allocated to the earliest period in which the 
Credit Union can be required to pay. When the Credit Union is committed to make amounts available in instalments, each instalment is 
allocated to the earliest period in which the Credit Union is required to pay. 

The risk implied from the values shown in the table below, reflects a balanced view of cash inflows and outflows of non-derivative 
financial instruments. Liquid non-derivative assets comprising cash and receivables are considered in the Credit Union’s overall liquidity 
risk. The Credit Union ensures that sufficient liquid assets are available to meet all the required short-term cash payments.

< 3 months
$’000

3–12 months
$’000

1–5 years
$’000

> 5 years
$’000

Total
$’000

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 11,807 - - - 11,807

Receivables due from other financial institutions 21,471 10,314 - - 31,785

Loans and advances 18,429 10,460 44,413 164,080 237,382

51,707 20,774 44,413 164,080 280,974

Financial liabilities

Deposits and borrowings 199,057 57,873 5,817 - 262,747

Other financial liabilities 74 212 201 - 487

199,131 58,085 6,018 - 263,234

Net (outflow)/inflow (147,424) (37,311) 38,395 164,080 17,740

Maturity analysis for derivative financial liabilities based on their remaining contractual maturities is shown in below:

Fixed for floating interest rate swap contracts.

Average interest rate Fair Value Notional principal amount

                  2010
                     %

2009
                      %

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Less than 1 year 7.66% 7.79% (109) (180) 5,000 8,000

1 to 2 years 7.69% 7.69% (259) (322) 5,500 7,000

2 to 5 years 5.79% 7.69% (119) (623) 5,000 8,500

(487) (1,125) 15,500 23,500

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Credit Union, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, 
loans receivable, available-for-sale financial assets and derivative instruments. The Credit Union’s exposure to credit risk arises from 
potential default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure (excluding the value of any collateral or other security) equal to the 
carrying amount of the financial assets (as outlined in each applicable note).

Credit risk in loans receivable is managed in the following ways:

•	 a	risk	assessment	process	is	used	for	all	Members,	and

•	 where	a	loan	to	value	ratio	exceeds	policy	limits	on	mortgage	secured	loans,	mortgage	guarantee	insurance	is	taken.

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Concentrations of credit risk, where applicable, are identified in the notes to the relevant financial assets.

Collateral

The type and value of collateral required is dependent on the Credit Union’s internal policy limits and an assessment of the credit  
risk of the Member. The Credit Union’s policy stipulates acceptable types of collateral and the valuation requirements for each.

The main types of collateral used are mortgages over real estate and bills of sale over motor vehicles. Estimates of fair value are  
based on the value established at the time of borrowing and are not updated except where a loan in assessed as impaired.

Collateral taken as part of a collection process on impaired loans are disposed using independent auction process with proceeds  
used to reduce or repay the outstanding loan. The Credit Union does not use repossessed collateral for its own business use.

Analysis of past due but not impaired loans

Type Less than 30 days 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days More than 90 days Total

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Personal 894 - - - - - - - 894 -

Mortgage 2,222 1,635 - - - - - - 2,222 1,635

Overdraft 657 729 - - - - - - 657 729

3,773 2,364 - - - - - - 3,773 2,364

Impairment Assessment

The Credit Union assesses loan impairment on both an individual and a collective basis. On an individual basis, a loan is classified 
as impaired where a payment is overdue more than 90 days or there is doubt over the collectability of future cash flows because of 
known difficulties or non-compliance with the terms and conditions of the contract. Refer to Note 10 for impairment of loans and 
advances disclosure. 

On a collective basis, an assessment is made of the latent risks inherent in the portfolio. This assessment takes into account historic 
losses, economic and market conditions. The general reserve for credit losses is then kept at the higher of this assessment and  
0.5% of risk weighted credit risk assets.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT)

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Credit Union will not be able to meet its payment obligations when they fall due.

APRA Prudential Standards require the Credit Union to hold a minimum of 9% of its liabilities in specified high quality liquid assets. 
The Credit Union’s internal policy requires a minimum ratio well above the 9% limit specified in the Prudential Standards. High quality 
liquid assets comprise cash, bank bills and certificates of deposit rated at investment grade and must be convertible into cash within 
2 business days.

The Credit Union does not take a position on interest rate movements but places high quality liquid investments to match the maturity 
structure of its liabilities.

The following liquidity risk disclosures reflect all contractually fixed pay-offs, repayments and interest resulting from recognised financial 
liabilities and financial guarantees as of 30 June 2010. For the other obligations the respective undiscounted cash flows for the respective 
upcoming fiscal years are presented. The timing of cash flows for liabilities is based on the contractual terms of the underlying contract.

However, where the counterparty has a choice of when the amount is paid, the liability is allocated to the earliest period in which the 
Credit Union can be required to pay. When the Credit Union is committed to make amounts available in instalments, each instalment is 
allocated to the earliest period in which the Credit Union is required to pay. 

The risk implied from the values shown in the table below, reflects a balanced view of cash inflows and outflows of non-derivative 
financial instruments. Liquid non-derivative assets comprising cash and receivables are considered in the Credit Union’s overall liquidity 
risk. The Credit Union ensures that sufficient liquid assets are available to meet all the required short-term cash payments.

< 3 months
$’000

3–12 months
$’000

1–5 years
$’000

> 5 years
$’000

Total
$’000

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 11,807 - - - 11,807

Receivables due from other financial institutions 21,471 10,314 - - 31,785

Loans and advances 18,429 10,460 44,413 164,080 237,382

51,707 20,774 44,413 164,080 280,974

Financial liabilities

Deposits and borrowings 199,057 57,873 5,817 - 262,747

Other financial liabilities 74 212 201 - 487

199,131 58,085 6,018 - 263,234

Net (outflow)/inflow (147,424) (37,311) 38,395 164,080 17,740

Maturity analysis for derivative financial liabilities based on their remaining contractual maturities is shown in below:

Fixed for floating interest rate swap contracts.

Average interest rate Fair Value Notional principal amount

                  2010
                     %

2009
                      %

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Less than 1 year 7.66% 7.79% (109) (180) 5,000 8,000

1 to 2 years 7.69% 7.69% (259) (322) 5,500 7,000

2 to 5 years 5.79% 7.69% (119) (623) 5,000 8,500

(487) (1,125) 15,500 23,500

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Credit Union, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, 
loans receivable, available-for-sale financial assets and derivative instruments. The Credit Union’s exposure to credit risk arises from 
potential default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure (excluding the value of any collateral or other security) equal to the 
carrying amount of the financial assets (as outlined in each applicable note).

Credit risk in loans receivable is managed in the following ways:

•	 a	risk	assessment	process	is	used	for	all	Members,	and

•	 where	a	loan	to	value	ratio	exceeds	policy	limits	on	mortgage	secured	loans,	mortgage	guarantee	insurance	is	taken.

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Concentrations of credit risk, where applicable, are identified in the notes to the relevant financial assets.

Collateral

The type and value of collateral required is dependent on the Credit Union’s internal policy limits and an assessment of the credit  
risk of the Member. The Credit Union’s policy stipulates acceptable types of collateral and the valuation requirements for each.

The main types of collateral used are mortgages over real estate and bills of sale over motor vehicles. Estimates of fair value are  
based on the value established at the time of borrowing and are not updated except where a loan in assessed as impaired.

Collateral taken as part of a collection process on impaired loans are disposed using independent auction process with proceeds  
used to reduce or repay the outstanding loan. The Credit Union does not use repossessed collateral for its own business use.

Analysis of past due but not impaired loans

Type Less than 30 days 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days More than 90 days Total

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Personal 894 - - - - - - - 894 -

Mortgage 2,222 1,635 - - - - - - 2,222 1,635

Overdraft 657 729 - - - - - - 657 729

3,773 2,364 - - - - - - 3,773 2,364

Impairment Assessment

The Credit Union assesses loan impairment on both an individual and a collective basis. On an individual basis, a loan is classified 
as impaired where a payment is overdue more than 90 days or there is doubt over the collectability of future cash flows because of 
known difficulties or non-compliance with the terms and conditions of the contract. Refer to Note 10 for impairment of loans and 
advances disclosure. 

On a collective basis, an assessment is made of the latent risks inherent in the portfolio. This assessment takes into account historic 
losses, economic and market conditions. The general reserve for credit losses is then kept at the higher of this assessment and  
0.5% of risk weighted credit risk assets.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value movements

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2010 2009 2010 2009

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening balance 1,496 1,496 1,296 1,296

Purchases 5 - 5 -

Sales (121) - (121) -

Closing balance 1,380 1,496 1,180 1,296

Total gain or loss stated in the table above for assets held at the end of the period.

(e) Capital management

The Credit Union monitors the adequacy of its capital based on the requirement of APRA Prudential Standards.

APRA Prudential Standards require the Credit Union to maintain a minimum of 8% of capital to risk weighted assets at all time. 
The Credit Union’s internal policy target ratio is well above the Prudential Standard limit and includes elements for risk exposures  
such as market, operations, and credit risk. The Credit Union’s capital adequacy ratio exceed APRA’s minimum requirements at all 
times during the year.

The Credit Union conducts an annual risk assessment and based on the outcome of this assessment, capital levels are adjusted accordingly.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

Service One Credit Union Limited
ABN 42 095 848 598

The Directors of Service One Credit Union Limited (the Credit Union) and of the consolidated entity declare that:

1. The financial statements and notes related thereto:

a. Comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001, and

b. Give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2010 and performance for the period ended on that date 

of the Credit Union and of the consolidated entity.

2. In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Credit Union will be able to pay its debts as and 

when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

J C Clarke E M Adriaanse

Chair Chair – Audit and Compliance Committee

Dated this 12th day of August 2010.
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Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion the financial report of Service One Credit Union Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Service One Credit Union Limited and the consolidated entity at 30 

June 2010 and of their performance for the year ended on that date, and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations), and the 

Corporations Regulations 2001.

Ernst & Young 

Andrew Gilder

Partner

Canberra

12 August 2010

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
SERVICE ONE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 

Report on the Financial Report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Service One Credit Union Limited (“the company”), which comprises 

the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2010, and statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in 

equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other 

explanatory notes and the Directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entity it 

controlled at the year’s end.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

The Directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance 

with the Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations 

Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and 

applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 

with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements 

relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report 

is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. 

The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 

financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to 

the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. 

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our audit we have met the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We have given to the 

Directors of the company a written Auditor’s Independence Declaration, a copy of which is included in the Directors’ report. 

In addition to our audit of the financial report, we were engaged to undertake the services disclosed in the notes to the 

financial statements. The provision of these services has not impaired our independence.
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